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UNITED STATES DISTRI CT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

DENNIS L. MONTGOMERY,

Plaintiff, : Civil Action No.: 16-0126(RC)
V. X Re Document N&: 52, 125, 143, 164,
: 166, 181, 201,
JAMES RISEN et al, : 221, 210, 236,
: 239, 253256,
Defendans. X 264, 269, 270

MEMORANDUM OPINION

RESOLVING ALL PENDING M OTIONS AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ M OTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT

l. INTRODUCTION

The twists and turns of thease could fill the pages of a book. In fact, much of it already
has. In Omber 2014 Defendant James Risen authared his cedefendants Houghton Mifflin
Harcourt Publishing Company and Houghton Mifflin Harcourt Comgaaifectively,
“Defendants”} publishedPay any Price: Greed, Power, and Endless Wane of the bodk
chapters focuses heavily on Plaintiff Dennis Montgomery, who eldito have developed
several technologies that the government subsequently employednartbe terrorism in the
years following the September 11, 2001 terrorist attaCkge of those tecluogies,
Montgomery claimed, couldetect hidden numbers aledters that appeared in Al Jazeera
broadcasts. Government officials purportedly concludedhloae strings of letters and numbers

identified airline flight numbers or longitudinal and latitn@ coordinates representing targets of

! Defendants note that Houghton Mifflin Harcourt Company is apprly sued as “HMH
Holdings, Inc.” SeeDefs.” Mot. for Summ. J. & Mem. Supp. at 1, ECF No. 201. Although the
Court refers generally to “Defendants” throughout this opinfor ease of reference t®urt
will refer to “Houghton Mifflin” when referring only to the publishingropany defendants.
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anticipated al Qaeda terrorist attacks. If this sounds too goodrioehedu are not alonelhe
relevant chapter iRay Any Priceexplains how government officials, Montgomery’s former
employees, and others came to believe that his technology did noaswilted. The chapter
repeats others’ assertions that Montgomery is a con man and des@iteehhology as a hoax.
This memorandunopinion s an extended epilogue of sorts, and picks up whayeAny
Price leavesoff. Montgomery filed this action claiming, primarily, that Dedamts defamed
him in thechapter and in the course mfomoting the bookAfter a protracted, and largely
unresolvedsagain the United States District Court for the Southern i2istf Florida,the case
was transferred to this district and assigned to the undersigned.e BefacCourt are Defendants’
motionto dismiss and motiofor summary judgment and a numbeiooatstandingliscovery
related motions.The tale of the Court’ssolutionof those motionfollows. For thosenot
otherwisetempted tcskip to the final chapterspoiler alert—theend result is that the Court will

grant Defendants’ motion for summary judgment.

. FACTUAL & PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
A. The Challenged Chapter

Defendant James Risen is the authoPaf Ay Price: Greed, Power, and Endless War
which was published on October 14, 2014 by Houghton MiffBeeDefs.’ Stmt.of Undisputed
Material Factg[11, 3 (“Defs.” SUMF”), ECF No. 202.The ninechapter bookdescibes how
the war on terror led to waste, fraud, and abuse by U.S. governmeiati®#ind the contractors
who stood to gain from it.’Id. 5 Chapter two of the book (“the Chapter”), entitled “The
Emperor of the War on Terror¢laimsthat in the posSeptember 11th era government officials
were quick to fund potential counterterrorism efforts. The Chapsi#isgbat, as Congress

“thr[ew] cash at the FBI, CIA, and Pentagon,” a “counterterrorism leuliké a financial bubble
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grew inWashington, and a new breed of entrepreneur learned that one of the susastiestd
paths to riches could be found . . . in Tysons Corner, Virginiaingpup with new ways to
predict, analyze, and prevent terrorist attacks, short of that, at leasbnvincing a few
government bureaucrats that you had some magic formula for doinduso.Compl.Ex. A at
31 (‘Chapter”), ECF No. 44.

To illustrate this point, the Chapter presents “the examplelahfi#f] Dennis
Montgomery.” Id. at 3. Risen describes Montgomery as “the perfect case study to explain how
during the war on terror greed and ambition have been married to edlinviers of cash to
create a climate in which someone who has been accused of being a con adide wasreate
a rogue intelligence operation with little or no adult supervisidd.’at 32. The Chapter claims
that Montgomery’xample “demonstrates how hundreds of billions of dollars pouredhat
war on terror went to wasteld. at 33.

The Chaptefocuses orseveratypes of techology that Montgomery developed. The
Central Intelligence Agency CIA”) and other federal intelligence and law enforcement
agencies apparently relieeh the technologipeginning in or around 2003d. at 37. The
Chapter claims that the¢hnologydid not work as billed For example, Montgomery allegedly
created video compression and object recognition technology which therde &d other
agencies believed could be helpful in storing and analyzing teredtane video.ld. at 36. In
particular, the Chapter states that “Montgomery claimed that h& facognition software was

so good that he could identify individual faces from the videoeca flying on a Predator high

2 The entire book Chapter is filed as Exhibit A to Plaintiff's Ameh@@mplaint. The
complaint alleges that a large number of the Chapter’s statements are defaifRatdrevity
and ease of reading, this factual background section paraphrases mechaifkls assertions.
When the Court cites to or quotes the Chapter, it cites to the spegécypmber of the book, as
indicated by the scannedmporeproduced in Exhibit A.
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above the mountains of southern Afghanista.’at 37. By2003,the U.S. Special Operations
Command and the Air Force had awardedernment contractelated to the technolodyg
eTreppid Technologies, the company Montgomery founded along witmarscfal backer
Warren Trepp Id. at 34-35 37.

The Chapterclaims thatwhile Montgomery performed field tests of thbject
recognitiontechnologyfor Pentagon officialsformer employees now allege that those tests were
fabricated. Specificallythe Chapter reports one occasionwhich Montgomery attempted to
show that his technology could detect, from a great distance, a toy bazookaoMenigarried
in a field outside eTreppidld. at 37. According to the Chapter, Warren Trepformedthe
Federal Bureau of Investigation BF’) that “Montgomery told two efEppid employees to go to
an empty office and push a button on a computer when they heard a beepl phaneg! Id.
While carrying the bazooka, Montgomesyrportedly‘used a hidden cell phone to buzz the cell
phone of one of the eTreppid employeekpwhen pushed a key on a computer keyboard, which
in turnflashed an image of a bazooka on another screen prominently displdyet iof the
military officers standing in another roomldl. This course of events “convinced” the military
officials “that Montgomery’s computer software had amazingly detected and recognized the
bazooka in Montgomery’s handsld.

The technologynost emphasized in the Chapteoweverjs technology Montgomery
claimed he had developéenable[ing]him to decipher al Qaedades embedded in the network
banner displayed on the broadcasts of Al Jazeera, the-l6gated news network.Id. at 40.

This software is often referred to as the “noise filtering” softw&wee e.g, Decl. of James
Riseny 15 (“Risen Decl.”), ECF No. 203d. Ex. 11 at 2, ECF No. 20B1. Risen writes that

“Montgomery sold the CIA on the fantasy that al Qaeda was using the broadadigitally
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transmit its plans for future terrorist attacksivhich included “series of hakn letters and
numbers that appeared to be coded messages about specific airlinehgfiks terrorists were
targeting.” Chapter at 4@1. Bylate 2003 CIA officials visited eTreppid’s offices in Reno,
Nevada to observe the softwaie. at 40.

The Chapter positthat “Montgomery brilliantly played on the CIA’s technical
insecurities as well as the agency’s woeful lack of understanding abQaeda and Islamic
terrorism.” Id. Although notingthat “Montgomery insists that he did not come uthvie idea
of analyzing Al Jazeera videotapes,” and that the CIA instead came tRikenwrites that
“even if it wasn't Montgomery'’s idea, he ran with it as fast as h&could. at 41. Montgomery
allegedlyinformed the CIA that thal Jazeeréroactastshad hidden letters and numbers
enmbedded in themyhich “included the letters ‘AF’ followed by a series of numbergher
letters ‘AA’ and ‘UA’ and two or three digits.1d. Other serie®f numbersilooked like
coordinates for the longitude and latitude of specific locatiofhs.”

The Chapter statebat “[tlhe CIA made the inevitable connectionatid Risercontends
in the Chapter that the technology “so enraptured certain key goveraffieials that it was
considered the most important and neestsitive counterterrorism intelligence that the Central
Intelligence Agency had to offer President Bushd” at41, 39. Senior CIA officials in the
agency’'sDirectorate of Science and Technology began to vouch for Montgtamweoyk. Id. at
39. The Chapter reports that the Directorate’s chief, Donald Kerr, kelithe claims about the
embedded codes, and convinced George Tenet, Director of the CIA, to takKerimation
seriously. Id. at 42. “As a result, in December 2003, Tenet rushegttlirto President Bush
when information provided by Montgomery and his software purpostedw that a series of

flights from France, Britain, and Mexico to the United Statesratd@lhristmas were being
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targeted by al Qaedald. President Bush ordered those flights grounded.The Chapter also
recounts that “[o]ne former senior CIA official recalled attending d@&\House meeting in the
week following Christmas to discuss what to do next about themafton coming from
Montgomery,” a conversatn that included a “brief but serious discussion about whether to
shoot down commercial airliners over the Atlantic based on theigetedie.” Id. at 45.

Eventually, French officialapparentlydemanded answers from the United States, and
the CIA “was fnally forced to reveal to French intelligence the source of the threat infomiati
Id. at 46. French officials arranged for a French technology firmeteefseengineer” the
technology Id. The firm concluded that the broadcasts contained too feslspo contain
hidden bar codes or unseen numbeds. While the Chapter reports Montgomery’s claim that
“CIA officials continued to work with him for months after Chnts 2003, and that CIA
personnel were still showing up at his offices in Nevada until laté,2&0sen writes that once
the CIA came to terms with the French findinpe agency “tried to forget all about himld.
Risenclaims that “the CIA never investigated the apparent hoax nor examinet nead been
handled inside the agencyld.

Given this course of events, the Chapter describes Montgometyeaséestro behind
what many current and former U.S. officials and others famaith the case now believe was
one of the most elaborate and dangerous hoaxes in American histosg,that was so
successful that it nearly convinced the Bush administration to ordieerfigts to start shooting
down commercial airlines filled with passengers over the Atlaritidd. at 32;see also idat 32-
33 (stating that “Montgomery almost slabandedly prompted President Bush to ground a series
of international commercial flights based on what now appears &lweran elaborate hoax”).

The Chapter concludes thaince the fever broke and government officials realized that they
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had beertaken in by a grand illusion, they did absolutebthing about it”; the CIA acted like
the episode had not happened, the Pentagon “just kept working with Momnggoamnel the
Department of Justice invoked the state secrets privilege in séesaits irvolving
Montgomery to prevent information from becoming publid. at 32. Risen presents his own
explanation for the government’s silence: he posits that “Cligials were reluctant to tell their
Pentagon counterparts much about their experiences with Montgauoddgfense Department
officials apparently did not realize thais technology was considered suspect at CIA
headquarters.’ld. at 4748.

The Chapter also describes #mparentaftermath. Beginning in 2005Trepp and
Montgomery became embroiled in a series of personal and legatedisgdontgomery claimed
Trepp fad not adequately provided him with a share of the money flowingédiaeppid’s
government contractsSeed. at 49. Montgomery allegedly absconded with his technology’s
source code, and deleted the code and data from eTreppid’'s computer fidbgyramptedan
FBI investigation and a lawsuit between the twa. It was during that investigation that many
of the allegations concerning Montgomery’s software came to lighat 49-50. Montgomery
also made several higirofile allegations that formédevada Congressman Jim Gibbons, who
had recently been elected as Nevada’'s goveasgeptedribes from Trepp in exchange for
assisting eTreppid secure defense contrddtsat 49. Those allegations led to a federal
corruption investigation, which emtually cleared Gibbons of any wrongdoinigl. at 49-50.
Finally, the Chapter detailed Montgomery’s work with a subsequent backer, ExisatBlith
whom Montgomery attempted to secure additional government contrabis farise filtering
and objectecognitiontechnologieshrough a company they created called Blxwdce at 50-

51. These efforts led to a meeting with an aide of Vice President Dick Chedeyffarts to
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convince the Israeli government to use his technolddyyat 51. Neither preed successfulld.

In part based on these and other eveamddrawing from court documents and FBI investigation
reportsthe Chapter explains that Trepp came to believe Montgomery’s work was atothevh
claimed it wasid. at 49, andhat Montgomerys former lawyer, Michdd-lynn, “concluded that
Montgomery was a fraudjtl. at 36.

The Chapter also published Montgomery’s coustatements, albeit witomewhatess
emphasis.In its opening pages, Risen states that “Montgomery stronglysihaehepeddled
fraudulent technology” and that Montgomery “insists that the @sangve been leveled by
critics with axes to grind, including his former lawyer and former eygés.” Id. at 33. Risen
also reports that Montgomecjaims he'was following direct orders from both the NSA and the
CIA, and says that the CIA, NSA, and U.S. military took his technadogseriously that it was
used to help in the targeting of Preddtirone]strikes and other raids.Id. Specifically,
“Montgomey insists that he did not come up with the idea of analyzing Al Jaxetrotapes”
and “says that the CIA came to him in late 2003 and asked him to dd.iat 41. Montgomery
claims that “[t]he fact that the government is blocking publicldsae of the details of its
relationship with him . . . shows that his work was considereduseaiod important.ld. at 33-
34. The Chapter als@cknowledge#lontgomerys claimthat his former employees “lied when
they claimed thalhe hadasked them to fix #1]object recognitionjests” and that the Airdfce
“‘issued a report showing that it had verified the tesks.’at 37. Finally, in its closing
paragraph, the Chapter reiterates that “Dennis Montgomery continuggsigthat he is not a
fraud, that his technology is genuine, and that he performed higiditige and valuable work

for the CIA and the Pentagonld. at 53.
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In reporting this episode, the Chapter also relies in sevetahoes upon FBI
investigation reports, depositions and affidafilesd in various lawsuits, Congressional
testimony, and other information in the publicwiin. For example, the Chaptéentifies court
documentswhich containedVarren Trepp’s statements to the F&dthe Chapter'sourceof
the information regardiniylontgomery’s purportedly fabricated tests of his object idieation
software. See idat 37 (“Warren Trepp later told the FBI that he eventually learned that
Montgomery had no real computer software programming s&disording to coudocuments
tha include his statements to the FBILig; (“Trepp also described to federal investigators how
eTreppid employees had confided to him that Montgomery had askedalmeip thim falsify
tests of his object recognition software when Pentagon déficeaneto visit.”); id. (describing
the fabricated tests, and the use of Montgomery’s hidden cell pramoertiing to court
documents”). The Chapter alsglies onJohn Brennan'’s testimony before the Senate
Intelligence Committee during Brennan’s confirmatienCAA Director in 2013.Id. at 47. In
2003, Brennan had been head of the Terrorist Threat IntegratioarC&hich was responsible
for distributing intelligence throughout the United States gowent. Id. When asked in a
written questionnaire aboutdvitgomery’s technology, Brennan wrote that the technology “was
determined not to be a source of accurate informatitth;"see alsdrisen Decl. Ex19at 10

B. Prior Media Coverage

Media coverageoncerningMlontgomery’s purportdy fabricatedtechnology,
specifically, anddiscussingMlontgomery, more generallpgredatecpublication ofPay Any Price
by nearly a decade.

On June 27, 2005, NBC News publidhen article authored by Lisaydrs and Aram

Rostondiscussing the 2003 grounding of several flighithe article reported that “senior U.S.
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officials now tell NBC News that the key piece of information thggered the holiday alert
was a bizarre CIA analysis, which turned out to be all wrosghoughthe articledid not name
Montgomery as the source thie technology.Risen Decl. Ex4. The article reported that CIA
officials believed that they had found secret messages in thelmmawf Al Jazeera news
broadcastsandquoted Tom Ridge, who had been the Secretary of the Departntenimeiand
Securiy in 2003. Secretary Riddgeonfirm[ed] there were no secret terror messages,” but
maintained itwas not a mistake to raise the threat level, and acknowledged that the avadysis
not the only factor in raising the threat levéd.

In the interim, thelim Gilbons bribery allegations broke. Media reports indicated that
the allegations’ source wasvorn testimony Dennis Montgomery provided in the context of his
lawsuit with Trepp concerning the rights to his software c@k® e.g, Risen Decl. Ex. %t 3.
Montgomery’sallegations led to a series of articles in the media, and culminated misDen
Montgomery sitting down for an interview with laisviyersof NBC newsto discuss his
allegations.Id. Ex. 6, Ex. 7 (transcript of NBC news interviewuring the course of
Montgomery and Trepp’s legal battlegaiments concerning eTreppid and Montgomery’s
software were unsealethd mediautletsdescribed the contentsihiose documents while
simultaneously rehashing the allegations against Jim Gibl®emse.g, id. Ex. 8. The software
was even discussed in the context of Edra Blixseth’s divorce proceeaiiogs,2008loomberg
Newsarticle fully canvassed Trepp’s allegations that Montgomery stoleppid’s computer
code, Flynn’s charge that the “softwavas a sham,” and the allegations found in the FBI
interview reports—whichwere unsealed as part of the legal proceedifdy€£x. 10. That article
also discussed how United States intelligence agencies had askedt#nmatrermation in the

various Awsuitsremain sealedld.

10
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The focus eventually shifted to Montgomery’s softwaéeam Roston who had written
the 2005 story for NBC News with Lisa Myergrote a much more expansive article on the
Montgomery saga in 2010 f®ayboyMagazine, entitledThe Man Who Conned the
Pentagori. SeeRisen Decl. Ex. 11The article states that Montgomery “apparently convinced
the Bush White House, the CIA, the Air Force, and other agencies that AladateeiQatari
owned TV network—was unwittingly transmittingarget data to Al Qaeda sleepersd’ at 2.

And in 2011 Risen and Eric Lichtblau wrote an article forNle& York Timesanvassing much
of the same informationThe article, entitled “Hidindpetailsof Dubious Deal, U.S. Invokes
National Security,” wa published on February 19, 2013eed. Ex. 3. The article explained
that the Department of Justice had secured protective orders in two caselsl tdethils of
Montgomery’s technology frorthe public Id. The article canvassed many of the allexet
that would be repeated in the Chapter, including that Montgomery’s tegyappeared to be a
hoax, that Montgomery’s former lawyer now viewed him as a “con ntaatformer employees
believed Montgomery had fabricated demonstrations of his teapn@do government officials,
and that Montgomery’s technology prompted Riest Bush to grounseeverahirliners. See id.
at 1-3. The article also stated that “[s]enior administration ofcgalen talked about shooting
down planesdentified as targets . . . , according to a former senior igelte official who was
at a meeting where the idea was discussédl. &t 4.

Risen claims that, in writing his book, he relied on these articlestaed media
coverage.SeeRisen Declf{ 7-18see also idExs. 13, 14. In a footnotd# the Chapter, Risen
explicitly acknowledges botAram Roston'Playboyarticle, and Risen’s owNew York Times

article. SeeChapter at 53None of the article have ever been retracted.

11
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C. Procedural History

On February 24, 2015, following publicationfedy Any Price Montgomery filed this
action in the Southern District of Florid&ee generallompl., ECF No. 1. The operative,
Amended Complaint assedsnultitude ottlaims for defamation, defamatiper se and
defamation by implicatiobased on fortyhree allegedly defamatory statemeri@eAm.
Compl.196-239 ECF No. 44 The Amended Complaiatiso alleges additional claims of
intentional infliction of emotional distress, tortiomserference with prospective advantaged
assault. Seeid. 11240-256.The allegety defamatory statemeniscludestatements made in
the Chaptersee, e.qg.d. 11106, 109, 111as well as statements Risen made in interviehen
promoting the booksee, e.q.d. 11139441, 145, 149 The latter statements, in many respects,
repeat allegations made in the Chaptethe Chapter’s characterization of Montgomery.
Compare, e.gid. § 149 (asserting in interview that “when they [the CIA] realizedas a hoax,
they covered the whole thing up and never did anything abopvit) Chapter at 32 (“Once it
was over, once the fever broke and government officials realized ¢lyatald been taken in by a
grand illusion, they did absolutely nothing abautThe Central Intelligence Agency buried the
whole insane episode and acted like it had never happeng&dl&rge part, the Amended
Complaint asserts that Defendants’ statements or implied assdttarMontgomery’s
technology was a hoax or fraudulent are defamatBee, e.g. Am. Compl.{9107, 108, 112,
113, 120°

On April 9, 2015 Defendants filed a motion to dismiss or transfer for lack of peiso

jurisdiction. SeeDefs.” Mot. to Dismiss or Transfer at-427, ECF No. 25.In the alternative,

3 See also, e.gAm. Compl.1122, 124, 126, 127, 129, 131, 133, 135, 136, 138, 142,
143, 144, 146, 147, 148, 150, 152, 154, 155, 158, 169, 182, 184, 185, 187,41 2001202,
204, 206, 208, 210, 212, 216, 218, 220, 222,230 232, 234, 236.

12
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Defendats also moved to transfer for improper venue under 28 U.S.C. § 138dndéet venue
for the convenience of the parties and in the interest of justice uBd&IS2C. § 1404(a), or to
dismiss the complaint under Federal Rofi€ivil Procedure 12(b)(6) for failure to state a
claim.* See idat 17-30. After Montgomery filed his Amended Complaint, ttiistrict court
deniedDefendantsinitial motionto transfer or dismisas moot. SeePaperless Order, ECF No.
42. ThereafterDefendants filed a renewed motitmtransfer or dismism response to the
Amended ComplaintSeeDefs.” Mot. to Dismiss or Transfer, ECF No..52

Shortly after filing his complaint, Montgomery also raised isstencerning hipoor
health and soughta expedite consideration of his clainSee, e.g.Emergency Pl.’s Mot. for
Status Conf., ECF No..9The Court set an initial discovery deadlineSaejptember 16, 2015,
with trial slated tdbeginon November 30, 20155eeOrder Setting Civil Trial Date &retrial
Schedule, ECF No. 48. Defendants argued that no discovery shouldefanertheir initial
motions were resolved, and filed a formal motion to stay discgemging resolution of
Defendants’ motion to dismiss on May 19, 20BgeDefs.” Mot.to Stay Disc Pending
Resolution of Mots. to Dismiss, ECF No. 55; Pl.’'s Opp’n to Defs.’.NwoGtay Dis¢ ECF No.
68. On September 10, 26+Hearly four months later, and after most of the discovery period
hadalreadyrun—the district court summarily deed that motion.SeePaperless Order, ECF No.

130. On that same day, the Court also granted in part and denied in paddb&femotion to

4 Defendants also filed a motion to dismiss the complaint under gtedDof
Columbia’s AntiSLAPP statute, which they renewed after Montgomery filed hisdad
Complaint. SeeDefs.” Special Mot. to Dismiss the Compl., ECF I46; Defs.” Renewed
Special Mot. to Dismiss, ECF No. 53. Defendants withdrew tlodibmafter the Washington
Supreme Court held Washington state’s-&WAPP statute unconstitutional, presumably
because¢he motion relied ofVashington state’s statuteaddition to D.C.’s SeeNotice of
Suppl.Auth. & Withdrawal of Defs.” AntiSLAPP Mot., ECF No. 61.

13
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modify the scheduling order. The Court rescheduled trial for M2t¢ 2016, and extended
discoveryuntil November 19, 2015SeePaperless Order, ECF No. 131.

Several discovery disputes arose throughout this period, and weidered by
Magistrate JudgdonatharGoodman Of mostrelevance to the merits of Montgomery’s claims
is Defendants’ requetitat Montgomery produce trsoftwarethat is the subject dhe Chapter
As explained in more detail belowfter initially objecting to that requedflontgomery
eventually claimed that he had turned over the only copy of hisaeftto the-Bl, along witha
large volume of other computer drives and electronic information,nnesion with an
unrelated criminal investigation. Magistrate Judge Goodman orderstjdoeryon more than
one occasion to produce the software and to coordinate with the FBI indpites software,
using his seldescribed right of continued access to the softw&eeAug. 22, 2015 PodDisc.
Hr'g Ordery 6 ECF No. 107; Oct. 19, 2015 Pd3isc. Hr'g Order{2—4, ECF No. 154
Montgomery filed objectiont those ordersvith the district court.SeePl.’s Obj to Portions of
Magistrate Judge’s Order of Aug. 22, 2015, ECF No. 125; PIl.’st®Magistrate Judge’s Order
of Oct 19, 2015 & Regto Stay, ECF No. 164In addition, Defendants eventually filed a motion
for spoliation sanctions, arguing that Montgomery’'s Amended Caombyghould be dismissed,
and Defendants should be awarded attorneys’ fees, as a consequentalafdi® produce the
software. SeeDefs.” Mem. of Law SuppMot. for Sanctions, ECF No. 166; Pl.’s Praecipe, ECF
No. 170. OnJanuary 5, 2016Viagistrate Judge Goodman held a lengthgrimg on the
sanctions motionSeeTr. of Misc. Mot.Hr’g (“Sanctions Hr'g Tr.”) ECF No. 230

In the inteim, discovery closedalthough Montgomery filed mnotion to extend that
deadline whichalsoremains pending SeePaperless Order, ECF No. 13&e alsdl.’s Mot.

for Extension of Time to Reset Diddeadline, ECF No. 1810n December 14, 2015, consi#

14
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with the deadline set by the district court, and even though theiomtotdismiss or transfer
remained pendind)efendants filed a mmn for summary judgmerit SeePaperless Order, ECF
No. 131 Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J& Mem. Supp. (“Defs.” Mem. Supp. Summ. JBECF No.

201.

On January 25, 2016, the district court ruled in part on Defendaat&mto dismiss or
transfer. In dour-page orderthe district courgranedin part Defendants’ motion to disss or
transfer concluding thathe convenience of the parties and the intedgtstice warranted
transferunder 28 U.S.C. § 1404(8) the United States District Cador the District of
Columbia. See generallprder Grarig Mot. to Transfer, ECF No. 247. Thesttict court noted
that Defendants’ motion to dismiss for failure to state a ctammained pendinggd. at 4, and the
court did not otherwise resolve the various objections to the matgigidge’s discovery rulings,
Plaintiff s motion to extend the diseery deadline, or the parties’ motions to file various
documents under seilThe magistrate judgalsowas unable to rulen Defendants’ motions for
sanctiongrior to transfer

This action was transferred to tliistrict, and randomly assigned to thedersignd.
Since transfer, the partibave completed briefing Defendantsotion for summary judgment

That motior—which the Court concludes subsumes the pending motion to disiBiasw fipe

> Montgomery’s motion for an extension of time to file his respaadeefendants’
motion for summary judgment remains outstanding, desptéati that he later filed that
opposition. SeePl.’s Mot. for Extension of Time to File Opp’n, ECF No. 28&e alsd’l.’s
Mem. Opp’n to Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. 233. The Court graatswttionnunc pro
tuncand accepts his opposition as filed.

6 After this Court ordered the parties to file certain sealed documents that wigtedom
from the docket as transferred from the Southern District of Fldvidatgomery withdrew his
requests to seal. The Court therefore denied those motions asSeedtine 15, 206 Minute
Order.

15
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for determination along withll of the other, outstanding motiohsAfter review of thelengthy
record in this case, the pleadings, the relevant transcripts of procgethdghe parties’ various

motions, the Court is prepared to rule.

[ll. ANALYSIS

The Court will first resolve theutstanding discovery issues before turning to

Defendants’ motion for summary judgment.
A. A Note Concerning Choice of Law

At the outset, the Coudarifiesthe substantive law it will apply in this casés will
become clearhe questions relevan to both the summary judgment motion and the outstanding
discovery disputedecause Montgomery clairtizat thesoftware is wholly irrelevarto this
action.

“[T]here is no federal cause of action for defamatidartel v. FAA 725 F.2d 1403,

1405 n.2 (D.C. Cir. 1984and Montgomery’s substantive claims depend on the application of

’ After this action was transferred, the Court issued an order requésiirthe parties
submit a joint status report addressing, among other things: theylaétbe litigation; any
impending events or proceedings that might affect the course diighéidin; which motions and
issues remained pending; whether any party sought to withdraw any pematiogs; whether
any pending motions had become moot, subsumed by other motiseguoed additional
briefing; and whether any pending motions sho@dbnsolidated SeeFeb. 3, 2016 Order, ECF
No. 257. In their response, Defendants did not seek to withdrawmbgon to dismiss, but
conceded that “Jo the extent the motion to dismiss tracks the summary judgmentmti®
court can deem it subsoh by the subsequent summary judgment motioeéJ8int Status
Report at 13, ECF No. 258. Having reviewed both motions, the Court contthatles
Defendants’ summary judgment motion addresses issues ideéatibal outstanding issues
addressed in Defendts’ motion to dismiss. Therefore, the Court will deny Defendendson
to dismiss as moot. In addition, the Court notes that Montgoateo represented in the parties’
joint status report that he would be moving for leave to file @plyto address certain
arguments made in Defendants’ reply in support of their motiosuimmary judgmentSee
Joint Status Report at8, 13. Montgomery never sought leave to file a surreply, and the Court
will decide the motion on the basis of the memorandahidnas been filed to date.
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state law. Montgomery’s Amended Complaint repeatedly invokegl&ltaw. See, e.g.Am.
Compl.1103-05, 173. In their motion to dismisDefendantdbriefly asserted that iBtrict of
Columbialaw, and not Florida lawyould most likely apply to this casand they provided a
more lengthy argument for applying D.C. law in the context of thetion to dismiss under
various states’ applicable a18LAPP statutesSeeDefs.” Mot.to Dismiss at 26, ECF No. 52
Defs.” Renewed Special Mot. to Dismiss under the Applicable-BbAPP Statute at-5, ECF
No. 53 In his opposition to Defendants’ motion to dismiss, Montgoraegyed that Florida law
applies. SeePl.’s Mem. inOpp’nto Defs.” Mot. to Dismisat 24-29 ECF No. 63.Defendants’
motion for summary judgment discusses the issue only in a gdesimote however seeDefs.’
Mem. Supp. Summ. J. at 16 n.6, &dntgomery’s opposition fails to discuss the choice of law
isste at all. See generallfl.’s Opp’n to Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J.Rt.’s Opp’'n”), ECF No.
233. Finally, Defendants’ reply in support of their motion for summary judgrasserts in a
passing footnote th&njow that the case has been transferred to tis&itt of Columbia, D.C.
law clearly applies Defs.’ Reply at M.4, ECF No. 250.Yet, the district court’s order did not
resolve let alone discusavhichjurisdiction’s substantiviaw was most likely to applio this
action. Instead, its decisioo transfer venue was grounded on other considegation

In sum, the issue remained unresolved upon transfer, and the pasé noadequately
briefed the issue in the context of Defendants’ motion for sugnjpdgment. Nevertheless, the
Court believestat the question is immateriadll but oneof Defendants’ arguments for
granting summary judgment in their favor depepdn the application od federal constitutional

limitation on state defamiain claims® See, e.gMasson v. New Yorker Magazineg¢ rb01

8 The exception is the common law privilege for fair reporting i¢iaf government
reports. The law in each state on this question is substasimilar. Seeinfra note 4.
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U.S. 496, 510 (1991) (explaining that “[t]he First Amendmenttér@ialifornia’s libel law in
various respects;Garrison v. Louisiana379 U.S. 64, 671964) (explaining that “the
Constitution limits state powém defamation cases)For exampt, a plaintiff's inability to
assert defamation based @statement of opinigra plaintiffs burden to demonstrate falsigt
least in circumstances like these), and the requirement that a {poitpdse public figure show
actual malice, each eman#étem the Constitution.See, e.gMasson 501 U.S. at 510
Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Ce.497 U.S. 1, 221 (1990);Phila. Newspapers, Inc. v. Hepps
475 U.S. 767, 79 (1986) Gertz v. Robert Welch, In&418 U.S. 323, 342 (1974Yhese
limitations apfy with equal forcdo causes of action arising under D.C. as well as Florida law,
and the Court has fountb meaningful difference among those jurisdictiolasy in faithfully
applyingthose principlesIndeed, Defendants assert that the jurisdictions’ law are the same on
the issues relevant to their motjiand Montgomery’s opposition does not claim otherwiSee
Defs.” Mem. Supp. Summ. J. at 16 n/&s a result, the Court cé¢o both D.C. and Florida
cases as appropriatélitimately, the Court’s bldings arethe same regardless of whether D.C.
or Florida law applies.
B. Outstanding Discovery Issues

As the Court’s description of this case’s procedural history makes, deveral
discovery issues remain outstandirigost of the motions involve the $ofare that is at the
center of the Chapter’s claims. Montgomery had filed several objsd¢tiche magistrate
judge’s orders that he produce that software, and has moved to exterstdlhery deadline to
allow the search for the software to continue. Defendants have fitemtionfor spoliation
sanctiondased on Montgomery’s failure to provide the softwdefore proceeding to consider

Defendants’ motion for summary judgmetite Courtmustresolve these motions.
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1. Background

Some backgrouncegarding this dispute is necessary to understand the parties’ snotion
ard the Court’s ultimate rulingln their first set of production requests, Defendants requested
that Montgomery produce his softwar8eeDefs.’ First Set of Interrogs First Set 6 Requests
for Prod of Docs.to PI. at 12, ECF No. 90 at 13(request number eight)n response to that
requestMontgomeryasserte blanketobjection “to any interrogatories or document request
regarding a copy of his software,” on grounds of “cdexfitiality, intellectual property rights,
legal restrictions on the Plaintiff responding, that the indeidiocument request by its nature is
unreasonably burdensome and oppressive, that the total numbeuofeshbecequests is
unreasonably burdensome, oppressive and harassing, and also ounmhe gnat the request is
neither relevant nor reasonably calculated to lead to admissible exitlé?l.’s Resp. to Defs.’
First Set of Doc. Reqso Pl. at 7, ECF No. 92 at 34. Basedrothose grounds “andizer
considerations,” Montgomessertedhathe ‘{would] not produce a copy of any softwardd.
Notably, Montgomerylid not claim that he did not possess or have control over the software.

Defendants eventually noted a discovery dispute with the,@ng Magistrate Judge
Goodman scheduled a hearing for August 21, 2015. In their p&sendants cited and
reproduced a Nevada federal district couwstders from Montgomery’s lawsuit against eTreppid
in whichthe software had been excluded from aggamentendorsed Protective Ordem that
caseMontgomery had been ordered to produce, and then held in contempt fordatipge his
software SeeDefs.” PreHearing Mem. at 23, ECF No. 94id. Exs. 26. On August 19, two
daysprior tothe discoery hearingbefore Magistrate Judge Goodmafontgomery apparently
turned over what he would later claim is his only copy of the soéwo the=BlI, along with a

large volume of other computer drives and electronic information,nnesion with an
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unrehted criminal investigatioh. At his deposition, which was held on August 20, he confirmed
this series of eventsSeeMontgomery Dep. at 127:3233:19 ECF N0.166-2 And & the

motion hearing the next day, Montgomery’s counskl Klayman,representetb the courthat

the software had been turned oiethe FBI. See, e.g.Tr. of Disc Hr'g at 6:25-7:1Q ECF No.

110. Mr. Klaymaralso conceded that Defense counsel was not given advanced warning of the
transfer, but he did represent that Montgomery had arranged to have “cuntingess to
documentation which is not classifiedld. at 16:2+17:4.

Following the hearing, Magistrate Judge Goodman ordered Montgomeugeadls seif
described right of continued access to-o@ssified information . ..and produce the software to
Defendants’by September 4nd to advise FBI General Counsel James Baker and Assistant
U.S. Attorney Deborah Curtis of the order. PDs&c. Hr'g Order at 23, ECF No. 107.
Montgomery moved to stay that order pending regwiwf his objection to therder before the

district court butMagistrate Judge Goodmagrded that motionSeePl.’s Mot. to Stay

% Both in their filings and throughout the courdehe discovery dispute, Montgomery
and his counsel repeatedly invakes purported whistleblower investigation concerning illegal
government surveillance on American citizens, legislatodggs, and other persons. Beyond
the fact that Montgomery clais that the software relevant to this case bound up among the
materialhe provided to the FBI to substantiate his allegations, he naamingfullyexplains
any connection between those allegations and the subject of the ChapteroréhgrefCourt
will not discuss it further. In his Amended Complaint, Montgoyrdoesallegethat Defendants’
“tortious actions alleged herein were furthered and aided and abettesl ®\Atand the NSA,
who want to destroy Plaintiff Montgomery to prevent him fromldsog as a whistleblower the
full extent of their unconstitutional and illegal Government sillaree on American citizens to
the Congress, the Inspector General, and to the courts.” Am. Compl. B2§6nd the fact that
Risen admits he spoke with t@n CIA officials and officials from other government agencies,
Montgomery has provided no evidence supporting this allegationlsblswggests that
government officials are “falsely discrediting me to cover up wadoigg.” Am. Compl. Ex. C.
1 61. Tothe extent this allegation is relevant to Montgomery’s claims thatrgment officials’
potential for bias should have provided Risen with reason to deeililegations made in the
Chapter, the Court considers those assertions in the actual maliegtcbeatow.
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Implementation of Para. 5 of Magistrate’s Order of Aug. 22, 20C%, Ho. 112; Order Den
Pl’s Mot. to Stay One Paraf Disc. Order, ECF Nol22.

Montgomeryfailed to produce the software, and instékedl an objection to the
magistratgudge’s order, which remains pendingeePl.’s Obj. to Portions of Magistrate
Judge’s Order of Aug. 22, 2016CFNo. 125. His primarargument waghat the software is
“nothing more than a red herring” amcelevantto the litigation because Risen admits he never
reviewedor had access to the softwavben writing his bookId. at3—6. In addition,
Montgomery argued that Defendantgimot properly designated an expert witness to analyze
the software, because they had only provided the name of the expert dmel aiditional
information required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 2€dlat 7.

On September 8, 2015, James Bakex,RBI's General Counsel, responded by letter,
disputing Mr. Klayman'’s representations concerning Montgomeogfginued access to the
software and stating thtontgomery‘did not associate potentiedtrievalof this information
[certain personal information] with any pending civil litigattid Letter from James A. Baker,
Gen. Counsel, FBI, to Larry Klayman (Sept. 8, 20E8}JF No. 126. Mr. Baker also wrote that
the government “resolved to treat the materials under review as presalynplassified for
security purposes,” and “neither agreed to undertake, nor understood igayiabto conduct, a
classification review of any of these materials for the purposeyo€iail litigation.” 1d.
Nevertheless he government stated that it would be “prepared to facilitate Mr. Mordgy’'s
reasonable access to unclassified information resident on the dntesited the burden that
the government would undertake if it were to search for the softwaheut speific
instructions amongthe 51.6 million files and 600 million pages of documéésitgomery

represented were contained on the hard drileessAs a result, the government requedteat
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Montgomery provide several pieces of information necessary mtifiéhe software, and said
that if the software was located “appropriate U.S. Government agencies dapartments will
conduct a classification review of the softwaré&d’ Mr. Klayman and his paralegal thereafter
filed declarations reiterating thtteydid inform the government that Montgomery was involved
in civil litigation and that Defendants had asked for access to flvease. SeeNotice of Filing
of Decls.,ECF No. 127.

Magistrate Judge Goodman held a second hearing on October 16 A2Qh&t hearing,
Mr. Klayman arguedhathe was notertainwhether the softwar&asin fact contained among
the materials turned over toe FBI. Tr. of Disc. Hr'gat 10:17#22 ECF No. 163 He also
claimed that he did not know whetl@rnotthe softwaravas classified.ld. at 15:26-16:9.
Following the hearing, Magistrate Judge Goodman ordered Montgomemntoverto the FBI
a comprehensive set of instructions as to how to pinpoint theaseftand to produce the
software to the Defendants by OctoBér 2015.He also instructed Montgomery to produce all
of his correspondenceith the FBI up until that point.SeePostDisc. Hr'g Admin. Order, ECF
No. 154.

On October 21, Montgomery then filed an affidavit contending hlefitst time, that
“upon sarching my memory, | do not believe that | have had access to any of jbet sub
software, nor did | provide it to the [FBI] when | turned over theesdtiv Montgomery Decl.,
ECF No. 1581. Nevertheless,dclaimed that he woulorovide additionainformation to the
FBI that would enable the agency to locate the softwfateexisted on his drives.

On October 23, in anmalil to Mr. KlaymanFBI Assistant General Counsigtd
Schwartanformed Mr. Klaymarthat Montgomery had not provided the information the agency

requested in its September 8, 20dffer. SeeE-mail from Ted Schwartz, Assistant Gen.
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Counsel, FBI, to Larry Klayman (Oct. 23, 2015, 3:44 PM), ECF No-418dr. Schwartz also
pointed out that Montgomery had now represented that é& rat believe the software was
located on the drivedd. Therefore, Mr. Schwartz stated that “the FBI will not search the drives
to locate software requested in Risenlitigation.” 1d.

On October 26, 2013Jontgomeryfiled arotherobjection to Magstrate Judge
Goodman’amost recenbrderthat he produce the softwaraiming that he had made a good
faith effort to facilitate thesearch of the softwareSeePl.’s Obj. to Magistrate Judge’s Order of
Oct. 19, 2015 & Req. Stay, ECF No. 1d3espite M. Schwartz’s October 23 representation to
the contrary, Montgomery claimedat the “FBI is working with due speed to search through the
millions of files in order to determine whether such software dassiaxhe documents
provided by Plaintiff, andagain reiteratd his contentions that the software was not relevant and
that Defendants had failed to properly designate an expert to analjdeait 6, 16-11. Shortly
thereafterDefendants filed a motion for spoliation sanctions, arguingMuatgamery had
spoliated the software by prding his only copy to the FBISeeDefs.” Mem. Supp. Mot. for
Sanctions, ECF No. 166. Defendants souligrhissal of the case and attorneys’ fegsed. at
1.

On December 11, 201Hjr. Schwartz informed Mr. Klayan, by email, that because
Mr. Montgomery had not provided the necessary information andngetdelieved that the FBI
was in possession of the software, the agency’s October 23 pesitiahthey would not search
for the software-remairedunchanged® SeeE-mail from Ted Schwartz, Assistant Gen.

Counsel, FBI, to Larry Klayman (Dec. 11, 2015, 10:43 PM), ECF No.1196

10 Although Montgomery initially moved to file Mr. Klayman’s comnications with the
FBI regarding the search for the software under seal, he has sinceawitittiat request. The
communications can be found on the docket at ECR2ZR®. Thosdilings include several-e

23



Case 1:16-cv-00126-RC Document 275 Filed 07/15/16 Page 24 of 74

NeverthelesaVir. Klayman representegt the January 5, 2016 sanctions heattiag
officials on the “criminal side” of the FBI continue to search far $oftware, at least
incidentally. He argued that Mr. Schwartz and those on the “civil sidéieofBI were not
involved in that process. He claimed that they were searchingtlewmgr on Montgomery’s
drivesas part of the criminal investigation attéit Mr. Klayman continued to advise them to
keep the softwareslevant to this litigatiomn mind. SeeSanctions Hr'g Trat 54:4-58:151*

2. Montgomery’s Objections to the Magistrate Julge’s Orders

With this history in mind, the CoudverrulesMontgomery’s objections to Magistrate
Judge Goodman'’s order# district court will only set aside magistrate judge’srderwith
respect to a nedispositivematter, like a discovery order, if the order “is clearly erroneous or is
contrary to law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 72(ageD.D.C.Local Civ. R. 72.2(c). The magistrate
judge’s decision is “entitled to great deference,” and “the couriaffitin the magistrag judge’s
determination unless on the entire evidence the court is left with tihéeland firm conviction
that a mistake has been committe®&ale v. District of Columbijeb45 F. Supp. 2d 83
(D.D.C. 2008)internal quotation marks and citationsitied). Themagistrate judge’s orders
thatMontgomery produce the relevant sedire were not clearly erroneous arwexplain why
it is not necessary to discuss in detail every minute contentiongathe parties regarding the

software issue A few ob®rvations suffice.

mails from Mr. Klayman to General Counsel James Baker in Nbge2015 raising concerns
about Mr. Schwartz’s responses, but there is no indication in thedretMr. Baker’s response,
if any.

11n response to Magistrate Judged@man’s invitation, Defendants filed five specific
guestions for the court to ask Montgomery’s counsel during theisasittearing, requesting
that the document be sealed, at a minimum, through the conclusion eatirghSeeDefs.’
Mot. to Seal, ECNo. 210;see alsdefs.” Renewed Mot. to Seal, ECF No. 269. That hearing
having concluded, the Court will deny the motion to seal.
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Most importantly, although Montgomery claims that the softwairegkevant, he is
wrong. In making that argumentjontgomeryhas conflated the distinct inquires for actual
malice and falsity.See3 Rodney A. SmollaSmolla and Nimmer on Freedom of Spe®@8:6
(2016) (“Wholly aside from th&ult requirements that have been engrafted upon modern
defamation law by the First Amendment, the First Amendment dogeenoit liability for
defamation unlesthe plaintiff also demonsitesthat the defamatory statement was a false
statement of fact.” (second emphasis added)). Actual malice focutiassubjectivestate of
mind of the defendant. Falsity, by contrast, focuses oalijeetie truth of the defendant’s
assertions Therefore, it does not matter “if the defendant doesn’t know the trutteomatter
when he makes the defamatory statement”; “[s]o long as what he saysttito be true, he is
free from liability.” Bustos v. A&E Television Netwoylét6 F.3d 762, 764 (10th Cir. 2011)
“[T]ruth, whenever discovered, serves as a complete defeise.”

Montgomery cites three reasons why the software is irrelevant, larsegatedly
emphasizes that Defendants did not raise the defense of truth asdfgradismissaln their
motion to dismiss.See, e.gPl.’s Obj. to Portions of Magistrate Judge’s Order of Aug. 22, 2015
at 3-6. That omission has no bearingyirever. Defendants do not have an obligation to raise
every anticipated defense in a motion to disms$hey did not waive @otential evidenceor
meritsbased defensaf falsity by failing to raise it irtheir motion to dismiss Indeed, falsity is
the sort of defense that one might think, in many cases, depepraaminatiorof factual
evidence. For exaple, it might have beestfficult to argue at the motion to dismiss stage that

Montgomery’s allegation the software worked waglausible Once armed with evideneg¢

12 And, of course, Defendants never filed an Answer in this case becainsadtien to
dismiss remained unresolved throughout discovery and summary judigneding.
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thesummary judgmendtage thoughiit is possible to argue, as Defendants do now, that the
evidence does not support that allegation. islMontgomery’s repeated assertion that Risen
never reviewed the software or other governmental materiaksrrelevant or weltaken See,
e.g, id. at 6 Regardless of what Rissnbjectively believedr relied on to form that belief
Montgomery still has the badurden to show that the Chapter’s assertions were false.

SecondMontgomerycontendghat the software is irrelevant becahsecan suceed on a
defamation claim solely by showing actual malice or ill wilee, e.g.Sanctions Hr'g Tr. at
22:25-26:15see alsdl.’'s Opp’n at 2223. As a matter of law, he is wrongW]here
discussion of public affairs is concerned,” ttreith may notbe the subject of either civil or
criminal sanctions,Garrison, 379 U.Sat 74, and the plaintiff must “show the falsity of the
statements at issue to prevail in a suit for defamatinifa. Newspapers, Inc475 U.Sat 775.
This is particularly so wen the plaintiff is a public figure, the issue concerns public affairs
the plaintiff must show actual malicén direct contradiction to Montgomery’s argumgthie
Supreme Court has “long held that . . . actual ma&dailsfalsity.” Air Wis. Airlines Corp. v.
Hoeper 134 S. Ct. 852, 861 (201@mphasis added§f

Thehandful ofcasedMontgomery citesre not to the contrarySeePl.’s List of Auth.
Pursuant to Order of Jan. 6, 2016, ECF No. 22écites two cases describing the Florida

Constitution vhich could be readwhen taken out of contexg permit a plaintiff to succeed on a

13T0 be sure, the Court has also “carefully eschewed” a categorical rulbetteaate
absolutelyno circumstances which a truthful statement could be actionable, “mindful that the
future may bring scenariashich prudence counseglhe Court]not resolving anticipatorily.”
The Fla. Star v. B.J.F491 U.S. 524, 532 (1989). Even if that question remains open, it is
viewed as “largely academic” because “[o]nly in the rarest cases have couiitsepeiatbility
in a defamation action based on a true and defamatory statement.” 1Roback Sack on
Defamation§ 3:3.2[A], at 310 (4th ed. 2015). If a plaintiff is not a private figarethe speech
is of public concern, there is no doubt that falsity e®astitutionally required element of a
defamation claim.Id. at 88 3:3.1, 3.3.2[A].
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defamation clainbased ora true statementThe Florida Constitution provides, in relevant part,
that ‘{i] f the matter charged as defamatory is andwas published with good motives, the
[defendant] shall be acquitted or exoneratdéd. Constart. |, 8 4 (emphasis added). Yet, the
Supreme Court held Barrisonthat “[tjruth may not be the subject of either dnal or civil
sanctions where discussion of public affairs is concerned,” andhesld types of provisions
unconstitutional in most circumstances. 379 EtS4; see alsdl Robert D. SackSack on
Defamationg 3:3.2[A], at 36 & n.19 (4th ed. 2015) ¢ong Florida constitution, among others,
and explaining that the “qualification is unconstitutionaleast in most cases”). In line with
this limitation, the Florida Supreme Court reguladgites the cause of action for defamation as
requiring the plaintiff to show falsitySee, e.gJews For Jesus, Inc. v. Rg§97 So2d 1098,
1106 (Fla. 2008) (proving defamation requires “(1) publicationfa(8)ty, (3) [that the] actor
must [have actual malica act negligentlly (4) actual damages; and ([f)at the] statement
must be defamatory” (emphasis addedf. plethord of Florida caseséxist which proclaim
that a required element of defamation is a false statement madeaabthér.” See Cape
Puld’ns, Inc. v. Reakes840 So2d 277, 27980(Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2003) (footnote omitted).
The outcome is not different under District of Columbia law, wlhgplaintiff must show “that
the defendant madefalseand defamatory statement concerning the plaintiff,” among other
elements.Doe No. 1 v. Blke 91 A.3d 1031, 1044 (D.C. 201@mphasis addedyuoting
Rosen v. Am. IsPub. Affairs Comm., Inc41 A.3d 1250, 1256 (D.C. 2012)).

To be sure, a few cases interpreting Floridadancludingthetwo that Montgomery
cites—continue to recite that truth is not a complete defense to defamatess@ccompanied
by a good motive. As other Florida decisions note, these cases “crefatgian’ Cape

Publ'nsg 840 So. 2d at 279 n.2, particularly wheegented as a broad principle and not cabined
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to their proper context. For example, one case citeelneantFlorida constitutional provision

in a footnote buexpresslyclarifies that whether truthful defamation is actionable “defsnd
upon whether gublic interest’ is involved.”Lewis v. Evans406 So. 2d 489, 492 (Fla. Dist. Ct.
App. 1981). Inthe other cadénch v.City of Vernon the Eleventh Circuit briefly noted that the
Florida Constitution permits liability in defamation for a sta¢at,even if true, that was made
“with ill will .” See877 F.2d 1497, 1504 (11th Cir. 1989). But, the discussion is dicthand t
court’s analysis was limited. Tleurt was resolving defendant’s argument that the district
courthaderred in denying thedaission of character evidence to prove the truth of the
defendant’s statement$d. The court first noted that the defendant had not identified what
evidence he would have introducadd thughe court was unable tetermine‘'whether the
district cout abused its discretion in excluding itld. In the alternative, the court merely stated
without analysisthat because publication of a true statement with ill will can be d@éayn and
the defendant did not argue the evidence was insufficienote #lhwill , his argument would

not have prevailed in any everitd. Neitherof these cases support Montgomery’s broad
proposition.

And the other cited cases involve claims that a defamatory impressioinbeonferred
from true statementsSo-called déamation by implication, as the Florida Supreme Court has
recognized, has “a longstanding history in defamation lalewis for Jesug§97 So. 2d at 1106.
Even in such casetough,courts focus not on whether an injury arises frontrinestatements
themselvesbut rather on thefélse impressiogiven by the juxtaposition or omission of facts.”

See idat 1108 nl3 (emphasis added). Accordingly, ‘tihremains an available deferisand
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all of the “protections [that] defamation law . . . afford[silie media . . . extefidto the tort of
defamation by implication.”ld. at 1108 & n.13%

As the Court explains below, Montgomery is a limifpgpose public figure and the
Chapter’s statements are undoubtedly of public concgeainfra Partlll.C.4.a. Thus, falsity is
an element Montgomery musstablish in order to succeed on defamation claims, and
evidence demonstrating falsity is of critical relevance. Atddime time, the issue would be no
less relevant even if Montgomery anticipathat a court would conclude he is merely a private
individual (and if Defendants were found to be mmoedia defendants).nthose circumstances,
at least under Florida law, truth operates defansdo a plaintiff's claim, rather than an element
the plaintiff must prove.See, e.gln re Standard Jury Instructions in Civil CasBgport No.
09-01 (Reorganization of the Civil Jury Instruction35 So. 3d 666, 7230 (Fla. 2010).But
seeHepps 475 U.S. at 776 (holding that, in a case where a “priigue2” brings a defamation
claim based on a matter “of public concern,” the “common law’s rule etyfalthat the
defendant must bear the burden of proving truthiust . . . fall. . .to a constitutional

requirement thathe plaintiffbear the burden ahowing falsity”(emphasis added) Whetheiin

14 The final case Montgomery citedponan v. Staples, Indnvolved a pure matter of
private concern and a private individu&ee556 F.3d 20 (1st Cir. 2Q). Eventhere, the First
Circuit explained—in line with Supreme Court precedenthat “in the pulit-figure context, the
‘actual malice’ test applies to statements of public concern, an areacindef@amatory true
statements are not actionable at altl! at 29 The court explained that Massachusetts’
“exception to the truth defense is not constitutional whenegppd matters of public concern.”
Id. at 28 n.7. On a motion for rehearing, Staples later raised the broadetutional question
of whether arexception to a defense of truth is ever constitutional, but the FnstiGieclined
to consider it because the “argument was not developed now and was neven ithiseditial
briefing.” Id.; see alsdrder denying rehearingjjoonan v. Staple$56 F.3d 20(1st Cir.Mar.
18, 2009)XNo. 07#2159) Commentary treats the decision as an “anomaly.” 1 Sapka 8
3:3.2[A], at 310.
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an effort torebut Montgomery'prima faciecase oto establish their own affirmative defense,
Defendants must be afforded an opportunity to probe the issue ofitminly discovery?

As a third ground fofinding the software irrelevant, Montgomezhaims that the
softwares workability forms only a small part of his defamation claand that “the majority of
the defamatory statements have nothing to do with the software orewitetiorked in whole or
in part.” Pl’s Opp’n at 2see alsdSanctions Hr'g Tr. at 80:2@1 It is not clear to the Court
why morelimited emphasis on the software would excuse Montgomery from producsw it
long as some of his claims were based on the sofiwRegardless,ven a cursory review of
Montgomery’s Amended Complaint show that his argument is drarnha@atadds with the
claims he presses. Neadl of Montgomery’s claims that the asserted statements are
defamatory involve contesting Defendants’ statements that hisigsvarhoax or fabrication, the
implication that the CIA had been conned by Montgomery, or the assetéibtihe technology
was worthless.SeeAm. Compl.{107, 108, 112, 113, 120, 122, 124, 126, 127, 129, 131, 133,
135, 136, 138, 142, 143, 144, 146, 147, 148, 150, 152, 154, 155, 158, 169, 182, 184, 185, 187,

190, 194, 200, 202, 204, 206, 208, 210, 212, 216, 218, 220, 222, 2042322, 234, 236.

15 For these reasons, the Court places no reliance on the CIA’s resporeridadts
Touhyrequests for documentary evidence and testimony, which Montgoraégmsaleinforce
his argument that the software is irrelevant. In the agenuial response-before a
determination had been made about producing any informatlmmagency preserved a
boilerplate objection that Defendants had failed to satisfy bloaeden to show the information is
relevant to their defenses because “[t]he validity of thjoskejndes turns . . . on what the
defendants knew or should have known at the time of theeclgal statements, not on what the
government knew."Seel etter from Raphael O. Gome3enior Trial Att'y, U.S. Dep't of
Justice, to Laura R. Handman (Ob6, 2015), ECF No. 273 at25. Respectfully, for the
reasons just explained, the Court believés ldgal conclusion is erroneouSee3 Smolla,
suprg 8 23:6 ("Wholly aside from the fault requirements.the First Amendment does not
permit liability for defamatiorunless the plaintiff also demonstratbat the defamatory
statement was a falseattment of fact.” (emphasis added)).
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Having corfirmed that the software is relevatite Court also rejects Montgomery’s
contentiornthat Defendants forfeited their right to the software by fatlondisclose information
regarding their named expert witness by the August 3, 2015 deafSkmg.e.gPl.’s Obj. to
Portions of Magistrate Judge’s Order of Aug. 22, 2015-8t As Magistrate Judge Goodman
concluded, this argument is “circular and unconvincing,” because @afescould not produce
an expert report without the underlying software the expert was tgzan@rderDen. Pl.’s
Mot. to Stay One Para. of Disc. OrdBICF No. 122. In addition, Defendants have ssewed
Montgomerywith a partial report including the expert’s qualifications, so@myssions were
harmless.SeeFed. R. Civ. P37(c)(1).

Nor does Montgomety or his counsel’s allegeahcertainty about the location or
classification of the software provide grounds forusneg his ability to produce it or for finding
that he had no duty to preserve the evidemdentgomerynow invokes Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 34Awhich states that a pantgay only request production aéms ‘in the responding
party s possession, custody, or confrdFed. R. Civ. P. 34(a)(1¥ee, e.g.Pl.’s Obj to
Magistrate Judge’s Order of Od9, 015 & Reqto Stayat 6 But it isrevealing that
Montgomeryneverobjectedinitially on the ground that he did not possaissontrolthe
software. SeePl.’s Resps. to Defs.’ First Set of Doc. RegqsPl. at 7, ECF No. 92 at 34
Montgomery’s belatedhange in position is difficult to credit, andstlikely he waived his
eleventhhour claim that he nevén fact had possession of the software.

Moreover, in turning over several drives to the FBI at a time wherdiddelieve
Montgomery had possessiof the softwareMontgomery and his counsel took actighich

theyshould have reasonahiyderstood woulglace a requested document out of Defendants
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reach'® And they did sowvithoutinforming Defendants andithoutseeking leave of the Court.
This fact is all the more problematic because Mr. Klayman indicates thakittsignificant
amount of time to coordinate turning over the information to tHe-F®ordinatiorthat

included negotiation of a production immunity agreement for Mongégg@ndextensive efforts

to setup a meetin@t which thephysical hard drives/ould be turned overSee, e.g.Tr. of Disc.
Hr'g at 33:24, ECF No. 110 (asserting that the process “has been under wayrigrmany
months before the lawsuit was even filedTherdore, Montgomery and Mr. Klayman had more
than an adequate amount of time to look for and sequester the software in lshthrear

months that passed between Defendants first requested proddi¢tiersoftware and when

18 Mr. Klayman now asserts that he was more equivocal at the August 2lediscov
hearing about the software’s inclusion among the drigeeSanctions Hr'g at 28:2310:17;
Pl.’s Notice of Filing Related to Alleged Software, ECF No. 228. &hifew of his statements
during that hearing were couched in uncertainty, the vast majority waressgd without
qualification. For example, the following exchange occurred:

THE COURT: The FBI has the software?

MR. KLAYMAN: They have the software, yes.

THE COURT: How did they get it?

MR. KLAYMAN: Because Mr. Montgomery provided it to them.
THE COURT: When?

MR. KLAYMAN: He provided it to them three days agbhas been
in the process to provide that to them and he peavitiem a lot of other
information too, which they are looking at because it is classiifedmation and
he is a whistleblower.

Tr. of Disc Hr'g at 6:25-7:10, ECF No. 110see also idat 7:25-8:18 (representing that
“relative to this case the software is included” in what was turnedtovbke FBI). For his part,
Mr. Klayman now states that he has never even seen ewexlithe software that forrtise

basis of Montgomery’s complairtand partially offers that as an explanation for why he does
not knowif the software was ever turned ovéee, e.g.Sanctions Hr'g T. at 31:24-32:3;id. at
50:20-25jd. at 65:24-66:3;id. at 114:2621. This assertion implies that Mr. Klayman filed this
lawsuit without a rigorous attempt to verify the claims that tHieveoe did in fact work—claims
he asserted were false and defamatory. The Court is not insensMvektayman’s asseion
that the software is classified (despite the absence of any real evidendegsih is), but his
admissions nevertheless raise serious questions about whethedhetednhe investigation
necessary to meet his obligations as counsel under Rule 11.
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Montgomery allegedly turned it evto the FBI.Having filed a defamation lawsuit in which the
working nature of Plaintiff's softwaris a critical issue, it walontgomerys and his counsel's
obligation to retain a copy for purposes of the litigatigrarticularly in light of the fact it
Montgomeryand his counsel were awateta request for productidmd beemade in that
regard. And, as explained below in the context of resolving DefendantS8bmér summary
judgment failure to produce or retain the software, for whategason (including that it might
be classified), leawMontgomery unable to provide evidence supporéingssentiaklementof
his claim. Excusing Montgomery’s failure to provide that evidenoelsoverlook the fact that
he never asserted his initial objections to the production request thatdid not possess the
software andwould encourage litigants to file lawsuits withaetviewingor retaining critical
evidence necessary to prove their claims.

The Courtalsohas serious reason to doubt thatdb&ware is in fact,classified, and
would not besubject to productianFor one thingorders issued in a Nevada case between
Montgomery and eTreppid specifically noted that the governmentdtattemed the software
classified or subject to the statecrets privilegen that proceeding That privilege “is a common
law evidentiary rule that protects information from discovery wheclasure would be inimical
to the national security.In re United States872 F.2d 472, 474 (D.C. Cir. 1989). Thevpege
“belongs to the Government and must be asserted by it; it caarrmatilaimed nor waiveay a
private party.” United States v. Reynold35 U.S. 1, 7 (1953jootnotes omitted) In the
Nevada case, the Government intervened and asserted the state secrets pevilegitam
documents—but the Protectiv®rder entered explicitldid not precludethe parties “from
serving or taking any discovery from other parties or third partianglto, or questioning . . .

[tlhe computer source code, software, programs, or technical spegifgatiating to any

33



Case 1:16-cv-00126-RC Document 275 Filed 07/15/16 Page 34 of 74

technology owned or claimed by any of the Parti€3eeECF No. 942. A magistrate judge
handling that case subsequemdjectedMontgomery’s claims that he could not defend the case
without violating his “secrecy oath and compromising national secunitgting thathe “clear
understanding in drafting and issuing th[e] protective order washgarties would be
discussing th@ature and capabilities of the technology, and the type of work each party
performed for the government3eeOrder Regarding Source Code DideCF No. 943. The
United States, which participated in aspects of that litigation, dithke a contrarygsition.

Other than Mr. Klayman’sinsubstantiatedayso, the Court perceives no reason to doubt
the Nevada court’s conclusiamd find that the software is classifi&d The Governmenias not
attempted to intervena this casedespite the fact that it is well aware of the ongoing dispute
over the softwareMoreover, the CIA’s response to Defendaftsuhyrequests indicated that
they did affirmatively search for a copy of Montgomery’s sofenand represented that they
were unable to locate TheCIA explicitly did notdecline to conduct a search at all on the
ground that the material was likely to be classified, as the ageshayttirespect tahe other
documents requeste&eel etter fromJoDean Morrow, Assistant Gen. Counsel, CIA, to Laura
R. Handman (Nov. 132015), ECF No. 178. The same is true for the Air Forc&suhy
response.Seeletter romRobert F. Booth, Chief, Gen. Litig. Div., U.S. Air Force, to Laura R.

Handman (Mar. 10, 20}6ECF No. 263.

7 Mr. Klayman asserted that he did not read those orders thaseedy, of Disc.Hr'g
at 40: 722 ECF No. 110but as Defendants point ptMontgomery, represented by the same
counsel, appears to have argued before the Ninth Circuit that the softdiai @her
documents at issue in the prior Nevada case were determined to be not classiffietergency
Mot. for Stay on Appeal, ECF No. 1{d3at v. At the August 21, 2015 motgimearing, Mr.
Klayman argud that he did notvrite that brief. SeeTr. of Disc. Hr'gat 42:13+43:12 ECF No.
110 Later in that same hearing, however, Mr. Klayman admitted he was notchaarge
Nevada opinion holding that the software was classifiddat 45:25-46:25.
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Finally, to the extent Montgomery re$ on the FBI's continued efforts to search for the
softwareas reason to object to the magistrate judgeders the Court rejects those grounds for
failing to comply with Magistrate Judge Goodman'’s ordétething indicates tha search
remains ongoig. To date, over five montlsincethe sanctions hearingeven monthsince
discovery closedand ten months since Montgomery turned his hard drives over to thehEBI
Court is unawaref anything in the record to indicate that the FBI continues to looth®
software. And neither party has informed the Court that the agesdpiind it'8

For all of the foregoing reasons, the CaurérrulesMontgomery’s objections to the
magistrate judge’s discovery orders concerning the production of tineasef

3. Motion for Spoliation Sanctions

The fact remains that Montgomery never produced his software despiiedaefs’

request and several court orders to do so. AatlleavePefendants’ motio for spoliation

sanctions'® A party has a duty to preserve potentially relevant evidence litigation is

18 Montgomery also filed a motion to extend discovenythis ground, even after Mr.
Schwartz’s October 23 mail stated that the FBI woultbt continue to search for the software.
SeePl.’s Mot. for Extension of Time to Reset Disc. Deadline, ECF No. T®lthe extent the
motion has not been mooted by euthern District of Florida’s failure to act on the motion
before summary judgment briefing was concluded, the Court will le#s explained above,
the FBIs representations that are in the record state that because Mr. MontgomEaielkd
provide then necessary information to conduct that search, thedtd no longer expend
resources to look for itThere is no need to extend discovery for the FBI to undertake a search it
has definitively represented it will not conduand there is no othéndication that a search
remains ongoing.The other reasons presded an extensior-the pendency of two motions to
compet—are now moot because those motions have been rejected or otherwisd,dmcitle
documents Mr. Montgomery sought have been preduso far as the Court is awafgeePl.’s
Suppl to Mot. for Extension of Time to Reset Disc. Deadline, ECF No. d&&5anctions Hr'g
Tr. at 6:26-7:9, 71:2%72:2. To the extent any motions to compel remain pending,
Montgomery’sopposition to Defendds’ summary judgment motion does not claim that he was
prejudiced by any outstanding discovery.

19 Montgomery also filed an objection to Magistrate Judge Goodmapte®ber 15,
2015 order prohibiting him from asking Houghton Mifflin’s officers and dwecabout
Houghton Mifflin’s net worth or about officers’ alleged failudisclose this lawsuit in SEC
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anticipated.Chen v. District of ColumbjeB39 F. Supp. 2d 7, 12 (D.D.C. 2011). A party that
does notdo somay be accused of spoliatierfthe destruction or material alteration of evidence
or the failure to preserve property for another’s use as evidencedmgem reasonably
foreseeable litigatidh—andbe subject to sanctionsd. (quotingD’Onofrio v. SFX Sport&rp.,

Inc., No. 06687, 2010WL 3324964 at *5 & n.5 (D.D.C. Aug. 24, 2010) A court may impose
several possible sanctions for spoliation, includingagsessment of fines or attorneys’ fees and
costs, the preclusion of certain lines of argument, an adverse irdanshaiction, or a default
judgment and dismissal of a party’s casg. The Court’s authorityrhust be exercisedith
restraint and discretichld.

Defendants seek dismissalMbntgomery’s complaint both becausehd failure to
preserve and produce the software and becaugielhtedthe courts repeatedrdersto produce
the software Such a punitive sanction is only justified when:

(1) the other party has been so prejudiced by the misconduct waatld be

unfair to requie [the party] to proceed further in the case; (2) the fzarty
misconduct has put an intolerable burden on the court by requiring theéacour

filings and purported insider trading that arose out of that conisSeePl.’s Obj. to Limited
Portions of Magistrate Judge’s Pd3isc. Hr'g Order ECF No. 143see alsd?ostDisc. Hr'g
Order at 2, ECF No. 136 (addressing deposition topics 8 afl'3)Supp. to Obj. to Limited
Portions of Magistrate Judge’s Pdisc. Hr'g Order, Ex. 1, ECF No. 144 (reproducing notices
of deposition). Magistrate Judge Goodman concluded that the nétlinerbf questioning was
premature because it related to punitive da@sagnd that the insider trading and SEC
allegations were an improper subject for deposition and irrelévdahe defamation claims made
in this case.SeeTr. of Mot. Hr'g at 21:218, ECF No. 145. Montgomery does not raise any
SEC or insider tradingelated claims for relief in this litigation. And Montgomery’s opjpion

on the net worth issue does not even acknowledge that the magistrateuledigthat inquiry

was premature at this time, a ruling that is amply support&se. Kubicki ex rel Kubick.
Medtronic 307 F.R.D. 291, 298 (D.D.C. 2014) (explaining that discovery of a defendant’s
financial conditionas relevant to the issue @initive damages, is premature until the court
concludes that the issue of punitive damages is properly befaaedordHaaf v. Flagler Const.
Equip., LLC No. 1662321CIV, 2011 WL 1871159, at *2B (S.D. Fla. May 16, 2011). Thus,
the magistrate judge’s conclusions were not clearly erroneous, anddviwery’s objection is
overruled. In any event, neither issupears relevant to resolving Defendants’ pending motion
for summary judgment.
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modify its own docket and operations in order to accommodate tng del(3)
the court finds it necessary to sanction conduct that is disrespectfiel tourt
and to deter similar misconduct in the future.

Clarke v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Aytd04 F. Supp. 2d 11, 21 (D.D.C. 2012) (citivgbb
v. District of Columbial46 F.3d 964, 971 (D.C. Cir. 1998)). Giitclaw also €stablishes that
the Court may only grant a motion for punitive spoliation sancifadhe moving party
demonstrates bglear and convincingvidence that the opposing party destroyed relevant
evidence irbad faith” Landmark Legal Found.\EPA 82 F. Supp. 3d 211, 220 (D.D.C. 2015)
(emphasis in original)c{ting Shepard vABC,Inc., 62 F.3d 1469, 1477 (D.C. Cir. 1995))
Although the Court is substantially troubled by Montgortgeayd his counsel’'s conduct
in this casethe Court will denyDefendants’ motion As explained below, the Court ultimately
finds summary judgment warranted in favor of Defendants on énigsnof this case. In
favorably resolving Defendants’ motion for summary judgmiret Court provides Defendants
in practical ermsmuch of theresult they seek their spoliation motios-judgment in their
favor—albeitby a different route. As Magistrate Judge Goodman’s {lv&aring order indicated,
a number of factual and legal questions are raised in the particular cofrtteigtcase whic
would make resolution of the spoliati@sue labor intensiveSee generallprder Scheduling
Hr'g on Defs.” Spoliation Sanctions Mofwith Specific, Addl Requirements), ECF No. 191.
DespiteMontgomery’sand his counsel’s actions, the Coig hesitant to allocate additional
judicial resourceso this discovery disputdoeyond the considerahiesourceslreadyexpended,
for little additional gain. Therefore, in light of the Court’srgrof summary judgment in favor

of Defendants, the Court will deny Defendamtetionfor spoliation sanction&’

201 the judgment in this case were ever reversed, thereby removing théobalses
Court’s denial of Defendants’ motion for spoliation sanctioms,Gourt would entertain a
renewed motion
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C. Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment

Defendants also move for summary judgment on several groundsxpkasned below,
the Court agrees that summary judgment is warranted here for sevevakreggstthe Court
agrees with Defendants that several statements Riadain the Chapter or in ensuing
interviews are nofactionable statements of subjective opinion or loose, hyperboliadgeghat
is protected as a matter of law. Secamithout record evidence demonstrating that
Montgomery’s technology actually worked, Montgomerymable to show that there is a
genuine dispute of material fact regarding the material truth of tapt@fs assertionsnd
therefore cannot support the elemeinfadsity. Third, even assumingyrguendo that
Montgomery could show falsity, he fails to point the Court to sefficevidence from which a
rational jury could conclude by clear and convincing evidence thanh@afits published the
Chapter with actual malice; in fact, the record contains overwhglevidence to the contrary.
Finally, because summary judgment is warranted on Montgomerfigmdgon claims, his
related tort claims also fail.

1. Legal Standard

A court must grant summary judgment if “the raav shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgeeninatter of law.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 56(a). A “material” fact is one capable of affecting the sulbstasutcome of the
litigation. SeeAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). A dispute is
“genuine” if there is enough evidence for a reasonable jury taratuerdict for the non
movant. SeeScott v. Harris 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2007 he inquiry under Rule 56 is essentially

“whether the evidence presents a sufficient disageaéto require submissida a jury or
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whether it is so onsided that one party must prevail as a matter of lawntlerson477U.S. at
251-52.

The principal purpose of summary judgment is to streamline litigdtyodisposing of
factually unsupported claims or defenses and determining whether thegensiine need for
trial. SeeCelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 3224 (1986). The movant bears the initial
burden of identifying portions of theaerd that demonstrate the absence of any genuine issue of
material fact. Sead. at 323. In response, the novant must point to specific facts in the
record that reveal a genuine issue that is suitable for 8&did. at 324. In considering a
motion for summary judgment, a court must “eschew making cregibiéiterminations or
weighing the evidenceCzekalski v. Peterg75 F.3d 360, 363 (D.C. Cir. 2007), and all
underlying facts and inferences must be analyzed in the lightfaxastible to th@on-movant,
seeAnderson477 U.S. at 255. Nevertheless, conclusory assertions offered watiput
evidentiary support do not establish a genuine issue for 8&dGreene v. Dalton164 F.3d
671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 1999).

2. Non-Actionable Statements of Opiion

Defendantdirst move for summary judgment on the ground that several of the stateme
contained in the Chapter are ractionable statements of opinio8eeDefs.” Mem. Supp.
Summ. J. at 221. While theFirst Amendment does not categorically immunize from liability
all statements that are framed as opinggeMilkovich v. Lorain Journal C9497 U.S. 1, 1921
(1990) “to be actionable under the First Amendment” a statement mewstthelessat a
minimum express or imply a verifiably false fact” about the plaintifeyrich v. New Republic,
Inc., 235 F.3d 617, 624 (D.C. Cir. 2001A. statement of opinion that “does not contain a

provably false factual connotation” is not actionable under the Ainendment, and receives
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“full constitutional protection.”Milkovich, 497 U.S. aR0. Similarly, statements that are
“loose, figurative, or hyperbolic’ . . . generally are not actionabléefamation.” Moldea v.
N.Y. Times Col15 F.3d 1137, 1143 (D.C. Qi(*Moldea I'), rev'd in part on reh’g 22 F.3d 310
(D.C. Cir. 1994) quotingMilkovich, 497 U.S. at 21)Whether a statement “asserts actionable
facts or implies such facts is a question of law for the court tordieteras a threshold matter.”
Id. at1144. To make that determination, a court must consider the stateocaamext, “because
it is in part thesettingsof the speech in question that makesg hyperbolic nature apparent.”
See Moldea v. N.Y. Times C22 F.3d 310, 314 (D.C. Cir. 1994Moldea II') (emphasis in
original); see also Weyrig235 F.3d at 624.

Several of the Chapter’s statements are-actionable statements of opinion or
hyperbole?! For example, the Chapter states that:

[Montgomery] provideshe perfect case study to expiehow during the war on

terror greed and ambition have been married to unlimited rivers lotcaseate a

climate in which someone who has been accused of being a con artist was able to

create a rogue intelligence operation with little or no adult sigien. Crazy

became the new normal in the war on terror, and the original objectities whr
got lost in the process.

Chapter aB1-32. Defendants argue that several of this passage’s statements -@&ionable
SeeDefs.” Mem. Supp. Summ. J. at-ZfL. The Court agreesT he assertion that Montgomery
was motivated out of greed or ambition is a subjective judgmentthat verifiable.See, e.g.
Underwager v. Channel 9 Austb9 F.3d 361, 367 (9th Cir. 1995) (muding that statements
concerning the plaintiff's “motivations and personality” were apmyj Greenberg v. Western

CPE, No. SACV 1202074 2013 WL 1628905, at *4 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 15, 2013) (finding “pure

21 Montgomery concedes that there aadféw statements that might qualify as opinion or
hyperbole’ but, unhelpfully, he does not specify which ones. RIén. inOpp’nto Defs.’
Mot. to Dismissat 35.
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speculatioron the part of the author regardinguiBtiff’s possible feelings or motivations behind
his actions non-actionable statement of opiniofetter v. N. Am. Alcohols, IndNo.06-4088
2007 WL 551512, at *12 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 15, 200Thé alleged statements to the effect that the
plaintiff wasgreedy, unreasonable, or foolish reflect personal opinion anefdherdo not
constitute defamation.”). In addition, Risen’s assertion thatdfg] became the new normal’ is
also a loose, rhetorical turn of phrase, and a statement of Risen’s iselgeation. The
statement, when considered in context, refers generally to the wdy affdmot specifically to
Montgomery. Evei it could be construed as describing Montgomery hins&ltrazy,”
however that assertion woul@lsobe a noractionablestatement of opinionCf., e.g, Cook-
Benjamin v. MHM CorrServs., InG.571 F. App’x 944, 947 (11th Cir. 2014) (statement that
plaintiff was “stupider’ and ‘crazytonstitutethe speaker’sppinion and thus cannot be proven
false’). Indeed,Montgomey's Memorandum in Opposition does not respond to either of these
argumentg2

In several instances the Chapter also refers to the fact that others hadl accus

Montgomery of being a con artist a fraud. For the most part, Defendants attributed those

22 Other purely subjective or hyperbolic statements which appear ingeimety’s
complaint but which he does not discuss or refers to only perfuyatohis opposition include:
Risen’s hyperbolic reference in the book’s prologue, generally &éhdwt referencing
Montgomery, to “hustlersral freebooters” who “continue to take full advantage” of the war on
terror, Am. Compl{ 195; Risen’s colorful and metaphoric reference to Montgomery as the
“Emperor of the War on Terrorijtl. 19106, 199; and Risen’s subjective assessment that
“Montgomerys story demonstrates how hundreds of billions of dollars pouredheatwar on
terror and went to wasteid. 1 213.

Defendants also contend that the assertion that Montgomery creatguia ifitelligence
operation with little or no adult supervisiors’a noractionable assertion of opinioseeDefs.’
Mem. SuppSumm. Jat 26-21. Montgomery does contest this point in a passing and
conclusory manner in his recitation of the facts, and claimghbadtatement implies the factual
assertion that Montimery engaged in “criminal activity.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 10. For theonas
explained in Part 111.C.4.b, below, the Court concludes that Rigesertion that Montgomery’s
operation was “rogue,” was not made with actual maladatever its implication.
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staements to Trepp, Flynn, and otheBee, e.g.Chapter aB2, 36, 37, 46 In those
circumstances, and as discussed below, Montgomery has failed tohstidiaose statements are
false(indeed, havindactually reported the statements of others from Swirces, it is hard to
understand how Risen could have published those statements wéhraatice, either) During
one television news interview, however, Risen himself appearedde agh an interviewer’'s
assertion that Montgomery was “revealeca®n man.” Am. Compf] 151. Montgomery
claims that this statement was defamatory because Risen adoptsutwtialification that
Montgomery is a ‘con man.” Pl’s Opp’n at8 But Risen’s own subjective opinion that
Montgomery is a con artist &so a noractionable opinion, particularly given the surrounding
context of the Chapter and the information disclosed theRse, e.g.Spelson v. CBS, In6G81
F. Supp. 1195, 1203 (N.D. Ill. 1984) (finding statements that individuals eecér co-
artists’ and ‘practitioners of fraud™ neactionable expressions of the “rational conclusion
gleaned from defendant’s opinion”).

The greatest point of dispute between the parties involves the Chafstetaenthat

Montgomery was the maestro behindat many current and former U.S. officials

and others familiar with the case now believe was one of the most elaborate and

dangerous hoaxes in American histoayruse that was so successful that it nearly

convinced the Bush administration to order figlges to start shooting down
commercial airliners filled with passengers over the Atlantic.

Chapter at 32 (emphasis added). Defendants argue that the stasemmeinhierently subjective
rankingof eventghat is not factually verifiable antbnsists othe authos (and the other
officials’) own subjective opinion based on disclosed facts tifiout the ChapterSeeDefs.’
Mem. SuppSumm. Jat 21.

Montgomery disagrees. In fact, he relies upon this statement inrlengnaes in his
opposition and iseemgo formthe cornerstone of his defamation claingee, e.g.Pl.’s Opp’n

at 3, 4, 8, 12,4 Montgomery’s argument is unavailing, however. A person’s opinion
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concerning which events rank among the greatest hoaxes in Americay lis quintesntial
example of a subjective opinion. There is simply no method tctol®éy verify where an event
ranks among the greatest hoaxes in American historywhether a particular event even makes
the list. As a result, the statement fails to “expresmiply a verifiably false fact” about the
plaintiff. Weyrich 235 F.3cht 62423

Montgomery nevertheless seems to argue that the statement contirfisaley
assertion that particular individuals specifically referred tomfgomery’s actions as among the
“most elaborate and dangerous hoaxes in American histétg.tlaims that there is no
demonstrated record of any official specifically telling Risen higaor she believed
Montgomery’s technology constituted “one of the most elaborate anérmarsghoags in
American history.” See, e.gPl.’s Opp’n at 1416. In other words, Montgomery appears to
claim that even if the officials’ underlyirassertionconstitutes a nererifiable opinion, whether
individuals in fact expressed that assertion is @bbxtrue or false

Yet, this alternative interpretation also fails for two reasdfisst, Montgomery

overlooks that the Chapter explicitly refers to officiddsliefs not any particular statemertbee

23 Montgomery’s Amended Complaint also includes a statement by Rigen tha
Montgomery claims, implies Montgomery should be in j&eeAm. Compl.§151, 156.
Montgomery references this statement in a perfunctory mannes apposition’s factual
backgroundsection, without developing an argument for why the statement shouldes
summary judgmentSeePl.’s Opp’n at 8. Regardless, the full context of the interview shows
that theinterviewerasked Risen whether Montgomery was “in jail for that [the aflefgaud],”
to which Risen answered “Well, no, he’s not in jail.” Am. Corfijd51. The same is true for
the other statement in Montgomery’s complaint in which an inteeneamarks that “you’d
think he would end up in prisonid. Y157, which Montgomey never references in his
opposition to Defendants’ motion for summary judgment. This consests serious doubt on
whether a reasonable viewer could even conclude that Risen adopted thenassertended to
imply that Montgomery should be in jaiEven if one could, the implication is a purely
subjective conclusion that expresses the speaker’s opinion orbiasdied on the facts that were
disclosed about Montgomery’s work throughout the interview.
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Chapter at 32 (stating that officialsdw believe[the circumstances surrounding Montgomery’s
technologyjwas one of the most elaborate and dangerous hoaxes in American’ history
(emphasis added)). Contrary to Montgomery’s argument, the Chregater asserts that
particular individuals expressed that exachtof phrase, and Risen’s own deposition describes
the statement as his own articulation of the views he heard others expeeRssen Dep. at
290:16-292:14, ECF No. 238 (asserting that “I believe . . . many peogebelieve that,” and
explaining hat the statement is “my language, not a direct quote” and “my phragd@sed on
having talked to a lot of people at the CIA and elsewhere about th&tioper. . describing
what they said”). Moreover, an assertion that officials perceivedddarel a particular way
depends, agaimntirely upon those officials’ particular viewpoints; it is diffictd prove false
the assertion that someatt®ught or believed particular thing, as opposed to an assertion that
an individual affirmatively said orxpressed a particular viewpoingee, e.gMirafuentes v.
EstevezNo. 1:15cv-610, 2015 WL 817793%t *3(E.D. Va. Nov. 30, 2015) (concluding that an
article’s “assertion thdthe plaintiff]l was perceived to be among the most corrupt Mexicans in
2013 is not actionable because it is not objectively verifiabldaretdad amounts to a subjective
assertioh).

Second, and in any event, even ilviéerepossible to infer a provably false assertiiam
the statement, Montgomery is unatdeshow that Defendants made that assertion with actual
malice. For the reasons explained below in RPa@.4.b, Montgomery has not shovthat
Defendantgpubliskedthe Chapter wittkknowledge that Montgomery’s tecologyworkedor
with reckless disregard to the truth or falsitytled Chapter’'sassertions. Instead, there is a
plethora of evidence showing that officials and others who workiidwiontgomerydo believe

his work to have been a heasevidence that Mogomery fails to dispute witboncrete
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opposingevidence from which a jury could find actual malice by clear and congravidence.
As a result, even if this assertion did not constituteaxiionable opinion, the Court holds that
Montgomery’s defamation claims fail to the extent they are baséd o
3. Falsity

Defendants also argue that summary judgment should be granted fatbeibecause
no reasonable jury could find on the basis of this record that theeClssgiatements concerning
Montgomery’s €chnology were falself a plaintiff fails to present evidence from which a
reasonable jury could find that the defendant’s statements see $ammary judgment is
warranted.See Liberty Lobby, Inc. v. Dow Jones & (888 F.2d 1287, 1294 (D.C. Cir. 8% 2
As the Court has already explained above in the context of the parsiesvely dispute,
Montgomery cannot succeed on his claim by showing actual malice. alo meet his burden
on summary judgmentehmust also show that the Chapter’s statements were falbés
opposition to Defendants’ motion for summary judgment, Montgongainasserts that he

need not prove substantial falsity to succeed on his defamatiompbgation claims SeePl.’s

24 There isa split of authority and an “ongoing debat@hcerningvhether a plaintiff
must provedy clear and convincing evidence or by a preponderance of the evithantkee
allegedly defamatory statements are false, and whether the higher dieanamcing standard
should apply for pulat officials and public figures even if a private figure can satisiyburden
by only a preponderancé&ee3 Smolla,supra 8§ 23:7.50. The D.C. Circuit has interpreted
District of Columbia lawas requiringa plaintiff to demonstrate the falsity atlefendant’s
statements bgnly a preponderance of the eviden&@ee Molded, 15 F.3dat 1142 Liberty
Lobby, 838 F.2d at 1294More recent D.C. Court of Appeals decisions are more equivocal,
however, and definitively confirm only that the preponderance stamlappropriate for private
figures, without expressing a definitive position concerning public figudee, e.gAyala v.
Washington679 A.2d 1057, 1069, 1063 n.3 (D.C. 1996) (concluding plaintiff, as a private
figure, need only establish falsiby a preponderance, and including chart showing that Supreme
Court had not resolved the issue with respect to public figuselexs, Inc. v. Dog977 A.2d
941, 956 n.12 (D.C. 2009 phasizing that the plaintiff lkyalawas “not a public figure”).
The Court need not resolve this issue here, however. Given the dearitheoicevin the record
from which a jury might be able to conclude that Montgomery’s tdolggavorked, he cannot
even meet the preponderance of the evidence standard.
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Opp’n at 2223. The case he cites says exathly opposite: defamation by implication arises
when “literally true statements . create a false impression Jews for Jesy®997 So2d at
1106. Thus, although Montgomery does not have to show that the challstagedhentsvere
literally false to succeed on a defamation by implication claim, he still mast $tat the
challengedmplicationor meaninghat a reader might reasonably derive from those true
statements is false.Even Montgomery admits that a defamation by implicatiomtlaquires
stating a fact or opinion that “create[s] an overall imprestianis fals€’ Pl.’s Opp’n at22
And the false implication the Amended Complaint clam@ny of the Chapter’s statement
creates is that he “is a fraud and that his work is msgal a hoax.” Am. Compfy. 208;see
also, e.g.id. 1216, 230. To prove defamation by implication he would have to showhikat
implication wasitself, false?®

Without the software, he cannot do so. Whether because the informalessifed @
because Montgomery gave it away to the government without retainimy atlbe simple fact is
that the software, and therefore any ability to confirm whegh&otit works, is absent from the
record. This absence is fatal to any claim Montgomeryispdaint asserts based on Defendants’
statements or statements by implicatibat the software did not work did not exist.
Montgomery’s opposition asserts in far more definitive terms tiadiscovery filings that he
could not produce the softwarevén if hehad it in his possession, as it is highly classified, as

confirmed in the context of this case by the Central Intelligence Agebd’) and its counsel

25 Montgomery als claims that malice and damages @resumedn per sedefamation
cases.SeePl.’s Opp’n at 2223. As courts have explained, however, such statements involve
thecommon lavwconcept of malice (ill will or spite), whichdbes not incorporate, and thus
camot subsume, any fault standard.&vinsky’s, Inc. v. Wallart Stores, InG.127 F.3d 122,

135 (1st Cir. 1997). In any event, Montgomery does not explain how thengegon of
common law malice or damages would at all affect the Cdiatsgy analysis
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the U.S. Department of Justic®."Pl.’s Opph at 2. Assuming this is accurate, the faat the
information is classified does not absolve Montgomery of hisdsurd he state secrets doctrine
would neverthelesequire the entry of summary judgment. “Once successfully invaked,
effect of the privilege isompletelyto remove the evidence from the casi’re United States
872 F.2d at176. The effects flowing from the absence@dret or classifiedvidence depend
upon the evidence’s relevance. If the evidence or informaisogs$ential to establishing
plaintiff’s prima facie caselismissal is appropriate Id.; accord Kasza v. Browngl33 F.3d
1159, 1166 (9th Cir. 1998)f the evidence is instead relevantadefense, Summary judgment
against the plaintiff is proper if the district court decides tihatprivilegednformation, if
available to the defendant, would establish a valid defense waim.” In re United States372
F.2d at 476 As one Fourth Circuit panel hefddismissal in a defamation case is necessary
where ‘basic questions about truth, falsityjydamalice cannot be answered without the privileged
information.” Trulock v. Lee66 F. App'x 472, 476 (4th Cir. 2003)n a defamation case, this
result is consistent with First Amément law more generally: as a consequence of the
Constitutioris guaratees, the law inevitablinsulatgs] from liability some speech thatfialse
but unprovably sd Hepps 475 U.S. at 778 (emphasis added).

The only evidence in the record that Montgomery points to whigiht create a genuine
issue of facterehis own, vague representations that the technology woi®ed, e.g.Pl.’s
Opp’n at 28. A plaintiff's own, even selserving testimony will oftesufficeto defeat summary

judgment—particularly where he has firsthand knowledge of adactbserved aavent, and

26 Recall that the Court already concluded that the government has not bedinisvey
and orders from the district of Nevada indicate otherwise.

271n a case in which Montgomery’s counsel here, Mr. Klayman, represéwetgdhintiff:
appellant.
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wherethe case depends on the jury’s resolution of competing testimorwitnass credibility.
SeeJohnson v. Perez-- F.3d----, 2016 WL 2941965, at *{D.C. Cir.May 20,2016)
(explaining that “[tp the extent the testimony of a witness who is also a party mayplag éah
by [a] party’s] selfinterest, it is ordinarily the role of the jurynot the court on summary
judgment—to discount it accordingly; see alsdesmond v. Mukase$30 F.3d 944, 968.C.
Cir. 2008). Yet, imthercircumstancesa witness may lack personal knowleadgscerninghe
matter about which he attempts to offer testimony, or may aakatement that is so
conclusory—and presented without any supporting facts in the reetudt it leaves the jury “in
no position to assess” the veracityhid statement.Greene v. Dalton164 F.3d 671, 678.C.
Cir. 1999) (holding thathe plaintiff'sconclusory statement thidite student who was hired
instead oherhad “less experience and education” could not defeat summary judgmerdgdyecau
“[a]bsent supporting facts[,] . . . a jury would be in no posito assess her claim of
superiority”). CompareAss’n of Flight Attendart€WA, AFLCIO v. U.S. Dep’t of Transp564
F.3d 462, 465 (D.C. Cir. 2009liscussingsreeneand further noting that a court need not
assume the truth of conclusory allegations lacking m&hbasis in the recordjith Geleta v.
Gray, 645 F.3d 408, 412 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (distinguishiiggeneand finding theplaintiff's
allegation that his new position lacked “supervisory respongiil sufficedto survive
summary judgment because the lack of supervisory responsibilaesaact known personally
to” the plaintiff andhis supervisor, who testified to thensa informationand thus|n]o further
factual background [was] necessary to support these claims”)

Here,while Montgomery of course Bgpersonal knowledge concerning whether or not
the software worked, his generalized, conclusory assertion nevestfaglieto place the trier of

factin a position to assess whether the Chapter’s claims about the softevafalse. As

48



Case 1:16-cv-00126-RC Document 275 Filed 07/15/16 Page 49 of 74

Montgomery’s own counsel hypothesized at the sanctions hearaogildt turn outhat certain
portions of the software did not work as representgek, e.gSanctions Hr'g Trat 81:18-23,
181:25-182:6.Providing the jurors with evidence that would allow them to meas@size of
anygulf betweerfully operational technology artéchnology that works only in certain respects
is criticalto Montgomery’s burden to show falsity. Montgomery would ha&htw thatany
falsity was “material,” becaus@m]inor inaccuracies do not amount to fals#gy long ashe
substance, the gist,dlsting, of the libelous chargean] be justified.” Masson 501 U.S. at 517
(internal quotation marks and citation omittesBeAir Wis. Airlines Corp134 S. Ct. at 861.
Thus, wthout background information concerning the software, how itat@édy ad to what
extentit worked, the jurywill be unable to asseddontgomery’sconclusory claim.

And there is reason to believe that such additional background atiomif it did exist,
was available in the recordit the August 21, 2015 discovery hearitigere was some
discussion of the government’s own testafirmingthe validity of Montgomery’s software.
Montgomery claims to have produced that information to the Defesidaltitougtthe evidence
appears to have consistedooig singlepage documeit SeeTr. of Disc.Hr'g at 74:9-77:3
ECF No. 110 Tellingly, however, no document confirming that the government tested and
confirmed the validity of Montgomery’s software has bpegsented on summary judgment.
There is no mention dhis evidence in Montgomery’s opposition to Defendants’ motion for

summary judgment® Indeed, the Air Force’s recent response to Defend@otshyrequest

28 In his statement of undisputed material facts, Montgomery claimmsDefendants
knew that the government tested the Plaintiff's technology téroothat it worked.” Pl.’s
Stmt. of Disputed Material Facts/% (“Pl.’'s SDMF”), ECF No. 234But none of the documents
he cites confirm either Defendants’ knowledge or that the govetrcoaducted successful
tests. He cites to his own declaration, which again contains onlyruakisory assertions that
the government independently confirmasl technology.SeeMontgomery 2d Decl{9, 20,
ECF No. 2344. He also cites to Risen’s deposition which briefly discusses tinggte$the
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assertghe opposite; it reports that “[w]hile the Air Force attempted taloot a validation of
Montgomery’s softwareit was not able to execute that validatioecause Blxware failed to
provide a copy of the software Seeletter fromRobert F. Booth, Chief, Gen. Litig. Div., U.S.
Air Force, to Laura R. Handman (Mar. 10, 2BCF No. 263

Without anyevidence beyond Montgomerygeneral representation that the software
worked a reasonable junyould not be in a position to assess his cldiat the Chapter’s
assertionshat the software was fraudulentahoaxwerefalse. As a result, Montgomery is
unable to make prima faciecase on any defamation claim based on the statement or implication
that his software did not workndDefendantsmotion should be granted for the bulk of
Montgomery’s claims on this ground alon&nd even if his general s&nent is sufficient to
create a triable fact on falsity, he has failed to identify eddé¢hat would allow a reasonable
jury to find actual malice by clear and convincing evidemsethe Court explains below

Montgomery similarly is unable to show ththe Chapter’s claims that Trepp and Flynn
now believed Montgomery to becan orfraud were false, to the extent those statements can
even be considered actionable as statement ebpmion See e.g, Am. Compl.{ 110
(referring to Chapter’s assertion tidntgomery*‘has been accused of being a con artist) ]

119 (quoting statement that “Michael Flynn, Montgomery'’s fortaetryer—who later

software, but does not state the outcome of those tests or whe#ebRBigved or knew that the
government &d confirmed it workedSeeRisen Dep297:74299:23 Finally, he cites an-malil
containing questions from Mr. Risen’s colleague, Eric Lichtblaantéir Force spokesman.
Pl’s Ex. 25, ECF No. 2625. One of those questions states that “[e]arly tedoom the Air
Force about the data provided by Blxware indicated that the companyrhad bver 24 boxes
of archive data and was performing very well in the early testing ofatiupt,” but then asks
“[w]as this true at the time and, if so, when did the Air Force begiate Houbts about the
product?” Id. The Air Force’sTouhyresponse indicates that those tests were never completed.
Seeletter romRobert F. Booth, Chief, Gen. Litig. Div., U.S. Air Force, to Laura R. iz
(Mar. 10, 2018 ECFNo. 263. Needless to say, none of this evidence actually supports
Montgomery’s contention that the software, in fact, worked.
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concluded that Montgomery was a fraud . .id)J 121 (referring tstatement that “Trepp later
told the FBI that he eventually learned that Montgomery had no real temgmdtware
programming skills, according to court documents that includstaisments to the FBI”). The
record indicates that these assertiareslterally true. During Montgomery’sdeposition in his
bankruptcy proceedindrlynn state that “I know you conned me and you conned the U.S.
Government . . . You're a computer hacker and you're a fraud, Mr. Montgdnmdontgomery
Dep. at 230:25, ECF N0.203-16. Flynn also filed an affidavin which he wrote that Blxware’s
valuation “is fraudulent” because “the technologyeggesentedoes not exist.”Aff. of
Michael J. Flynn § 13, ECF No. 243. Similarly, Trepp’sstatement to the FBI reads: “retign
Trepp has found out that Montgomery’s skills may not be what he hasigarpleem to be.”
Risen Decl. Ex. 15 at 5, ECF No. 203.2° Montgomery points to no evidence that these
statements-drawn directly from court or government documents repeategthwere false.
4. Actual Malice

Defendants prevail on much, if not all, of their motion becausetdytaonery’s claims are
based on statements that are eitheraxtionable or that he cannot show are false.
Neverthelessgven if Montgomery’s assertions sufficto create a triable fact on falsity,
summary judgment is also warranted for the independent reasdvidhgomery cannot show

the level of fault necessary to prevail on his claims. As explaieleavbthis is trueven if

29 Montgomery also alleges that Defendants’ publication that he westenin 2010for
bouncing more than $1 million in bad cks is defamatorper se SeeAm. Compl. 1 Z8. In
their statement of undisputed material $a8lefendants assert that “Montgomery’s gambling and
other debts led to bankruptcy and his arrest for passing $1 million irhbakis;” and tha the
prosection for passing bad checks is still pending . . . .” D&EEIMF | 29. Although
Montgomery generally disputes the entire paragraph in which thisfextiuded, he does not
respond to odiscuss the prosecution at allhel Courtherefore treats thiact as concededSee
Pl’s SDMF | 29;see als®d.D.C. Local Civ. R. 7(h)(1). That being the case, he cannot show
falsity.
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Montgomery had been able taopuce his softwareThe Court first explaiswhy Montgomery
is a limitedpurpose public figure, and therefore must make a showing of actuaéeiid then
explairs why he cannot meet that showiag this record
a. Limited-Purpose Public Figure

As aconstitutional matter, the level of fault a plaintiff must prae prevail in a
defamation case depends on the plaistgtatus as a public official @ublic figure, on the one
hand, ora private figure on the other. A more circumscribed group ofgfiglres also exists:
as the Supreme Court explained3ertz v. Robert Welch, In@an individual might “voluntarily
inject[] himself or [be] drawn into a particular public controversy dnateby become[] a public
figure for a limited range of issues.” 418 U.S. 323, 351 (19%4ich individuals are commonly
referred to aslimited-purpose publidigures.” Jankovic v. Int'l Crisis Grp.--- F.3d----, Nos.
14-7171, 147178, 2016 WL 2640526, at *3 (D.C. Cir. May 10, 2016). Like their public official
and generalpurposepublic figure counterparts, the Constitution requires ghaited-purpose
public official showactual malice by clear and convincing evidence to succeed on a defamation
claim. SeeGertz 418 U.Sat 342 see also Clyburn v. NeWorld Commanhs, Inc, 903 F.2d
29, 31 (D.C. Cir. 1990) A different rule apliesfor “private individuals” however. Gertz 418
U.S. at 38. Solong asstates’do not impose liability without fault,” the Supreme Court has
held thatstates “may define fohemselves the appropriate standard of liability for a publisher or
broadcaster of defamatory falsehood injurious to a privateichl.” Id. at 34/.

“Whether the plaintiff is a public figure is a question of law to belvesidby the court.”
Dameron vWash. Magaziner79 F.2d 736, 740 (D.C. Cir. 1985). Waldbaum v. Fairchild
Publications Inc., the D.C. Circuit developed a thrpeong test for determining whether an

individual is a limitedpurpose public figureSee627 F.2d 1287, 12988 (D.C.Cir. 1980). A
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court must: (1) “identify the relevant controversy and determirgthveh it is a public
controversy”; (2) determine whether the plaintiff “played a sigant role in that controversy”;
and (3) determine whether the allegedly defamatory statement is “getontre plaintiff's
participation in the controversy.Jankovi¢ 2016 WL 2640526, at *4 (citing/aldbaum 627
F.2d at 129698);see also Tavoulareas v. Pjr817 F.2d 762, 7475 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (en
banc)3°

Defendants claim that Montgaary is a limitedpurpose public figure and thus must show
actual malice to prevail on his defamation clairBgeDefs.” Mem. Supp. Summ. J. at-Z=8.
The Court agreesMontgomery’s participation in the controversy depicted in the allgged
defamatory Chpter at issue here satisfies all three praegdorth inWwaldbaum

First, the Court concludes that the relevant public controversysitéase encompasses
all of the circumstances surrounding eTreppid and Montgomery’'dameatd testing of the
noisefiltering and object recognition software, the government’s sulesgqise of that
technology, and the company’s attainment of government contra¢t&fdechnology.So
defined, he relevant public controversy in this case is nfalteted It includes Montgomery’s
allegations that theRepresentative Jim Gibbons of Nevada may have accepted gifts in@achan
for securing government contracts for Trepp and eTreppid. The cergymso includes the
software at issue in some of those contraek®therthat software workedand whether
government actions were taken in reliance on it. A public controvarsylme “a dispute that in

fact has received public attention because its ramifications will bbyfg@iersons who are not

30 The Court notes that, on occasion, both the Eleventh Circuit anda stk courts
have expressly applied thgaldbauntest wlen determining whether a particular plaintiff has
attained the status of a limitgulirpose public figureSee, e.gSilvester 839 F.2d at 1494;
Della-Donna v. Gore Newspapers ¢Cd89 So. 2d 72, 77 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1986).
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direct participants Waldbaum 627 F.2d at 129&ee also Clyburm03 F.2d at 3 (explaining
that“[ tthere must be ‘foreseeable and substantial ramifications for nompeant&” (quoting
Waldbaum 627 F.2d at 129®7)). And thee is no dispute thahe public coriroversy atgsue
here has ramifications for nonparticipants. The allegations congdRepresentative Gibbons
guestioned whether elected officials had improperly taken offcis, and potentially awarded
government contract funds from the public fisc, based nohe efficacy of the contractor’s
technology, but out of personal gain. Moreover, whether eTreppid antgbmery’s
technology was effective, and how it was used, raised questions cong&tior@l security that
clearly involved third parties.

Admittedly, therelevant public controversgvolves several anglesMontgomery
contendghat there are in fact two separate controversies at issue: one inubkiafficacy and
use of his software, and the other involving “a different contrgneiosutCongressman
Gibbons.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 23see also idat 24 (referring to “two different controversies”).
Despite the somewhat discrete issues, however, the Court views the emyti@s an
undifferentiated whole. Courts “often define the public controviergxpansive terms,” and a
court “may find that there are multiple potential controversies, taaaften true that ‘a narrow
controversy may be a phase of another, broader odarikovi¢ 2016 WL 2640526, at *5
(quotingWaldbaum 627 F.2d at 127 n.27). In this case, Montgomery’s allegations about
Congressman Gibbors’elationship with Treppaised questions about the government contracts
eTreppid had secured, and the government’s use of the technology moedlge@bbons and
Trepp both @imed thathe government contrashad been secured based on the technology’s
merit. See, e.g.Risen Decl. Ex. 5And that line of inquiry eventually connected Montgomery’s

software to the prexisting reporting, from as early as 2005, that the detis ground
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airplanes in December 2003 was based on noise filtering softwareteahment officials had
come to believe was wrongseed. Ex. 4 (reproducing Lisa Myers and Aram Roston article).
Indeed, the Court finds it instructive that, like the Chapter at isstinis casesomeof thenews
reports that prelated the Chapter canvasseditiple of these angles in a single stoi§ee, e.g.
Risen Decl. Exs8, 1Q 11;cf. Jankovi¢ 2016 WL 2640526, at *5 (noting that the D.C. Circuit
has on occasn even “defined controversies as bdimgaderthan the narrower discussion
contained in the defamatory document” (emphasis added)). UltimdtelZourt is unconvinced
that the controversy can so easily be divided into distboctstituent partsMontgomery’sbald
assertion to the contranthat Defendantsargument “that two different controversies are
actually the same is entirely unpersuasi@mounts to no more thapse dixit SeePl.’s Opp’'n
at 24. He has not meaningfully explained whys claims about Congressman Gibbons and the
circumstances surrounding the use and efficacy of his sofslkardd beconsidered standalone
public controversiesThe reporting that prexisted the Chapter only confisthe opposite.
Second, Montgomery “achieved a ‘special prominence’ in the debatgduapdsely
attempted “to influence the outcome” or could be expected “to have an impastresolution.”
Waldbaum 627 F.2d at 1297Montgomeryfirst came forward with thallegations concerning
Represetative Gibbons and eTreppid®vernment contractdNBC News then interviewed
Montgomery as part atnews report concerning his allegatiorf®eeRisen Decl. Ex7. During
that interview, Montgomery claimed that he saw Trgme Gibbons more than $1000. Id.
Although he says the only television appearance he did was a “short lhagddly at the
advice of counseRl.’s Opp’n at 25he strongly understates the content of the interview, and
ignoresthat the interview-albeit perhaps his most higinofile statemenrt-wasonly the

culminationof his participation in this aspect of the controverslyich began with a sworn
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affidavit Montgomery filed in a lawsuit he had filed against preggarding the softwareSee,
e.g, id. Ex. 5. In addition, his Begations led Gibbons and Trepp to claim that the contracts were
awarded on their meritsSee id. The lawsuit naturallynvited scrutiny of the technology that
was the suject of some of those contractés the D.C. Circuit has explainéft] hose who
attempt to affect the result of a particular controversy have assumaskttigt the press, in
covering the controversy, will examine the major participants avithtical eye.” Waldbaum
627 F.2d at 1298Montgomery can hardly be hearddmmplain that the focus of the inquiry
shiftedfrom his dispute with Gibbons and Trepp to the validity of his technoitsp|f.
Moreover, even if theelevantpublic controversywascabined solely to the efficacy of
Montgomery’s softwar@nd thegovernmetis actions taken in reliance uponhontgomery
remains a limitegpurpose public figure with respectttoat distinctcontroversy.Whether a
particular plaintiff injected himself into the controversy is thiee “beall and enekll of public
figure stats.” Dameron 779 F.2dat 741 Although the second prong of téaldbaumanalysis
oftenconsidersthe plaintiff's voluntary actions that have caused him to become eletbriaia
public controversy,” the Supreme Court “has recognized that it is pmsdtbhough difficult and
rare, to become a limitgourpose public figurevoluntarily.” 1d. a& 74142 (emphasis in
original); see also Waldbaun27 F.2d at 1298 (explaining that whesmfeone is caught up in
[a] controversy involuntarily and, against gl, assumes a prominent gition in its outcome,”
he has “invited comment’ relating to the issue at hand,” unless “betseany role in the
debate”). In Dameron for example, the D.C. Circuit concluded that an air traffic contreller
who had been oduty at Dulles International Airport on the day that a plane crastedvit.
Weather, Virginia—becamea limited-purpose public figure in the ensuing controversy the

accident’s causes. Tlaecident was discussed as part of an artioleerningsafey problems at
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Washington National Airport and air traffic controllers’ cobrions to crashes, more generally.
See Damergn/79 F.2d at 738, 742.

In this case, newspaper coverage regarding the government’s use of Menytgom
software well predated publication of the Chapter. NBC News firsttexpon the software’s
usein 2005. SeeRisen Decl. Ex. 4 As part of their reporting ollontgomery’s dispute with
Trepp,a number of publications discussed vaeious ways the government had allegedly used
the software. Then, 200§ thatsoftware was first connected to thecember 2008rrorism
threat that led to the grounding of several fligltgeid. Ex. 10. From there, a number of
publications includingBloomberg Playboy and theNew York Timgdiscussed allegations that
Montgomery’s software did not workSee idExs. 3, 10, 11.That controversy raised questions
regardingJohn Brennan’s role in relaying that intelligence, which becameutiecs of further
presscoverage and Congressionastimony. B virtue of his stature as tloeeatorof the
technology at issué/lontgomeryquite naturallybecame embroiled in the debate and was a
central figure in its discussiorThe dispute raised important public issues concerning the
government’s adtities, national security, and the public fisthus, Montgomery became a
limited-purpose public figure even if one might conclude that disntary participation in the

Gibbonsrelated allegations was related to a separate public controVersy

31 Defendants also press another ground for concluding that Montgasretiyiited
purpose public figure: they claim that “Montgomery reconfirmed his pdiglice status by
seeking and obtaining U.S. government contracts involving nationaityeeven afer he was
subject to extensive media scrutiny, thus assuming the risk béfystiblic scrutiny about his
alleged contracting fraud.” Defs.” Mem. Sugumm. Jat 27; seeDefs.’ Reply at 16.
Defendants rely primarily on a Fourth Circuit case in which the Genate that a government
contractor thasuppliedcivilian interrogators at Abu Ghraib “surelpew when it accepted the
interrogation work that it was potentially exposing itself to ti@apitable climate of media
criticism—criticism that couldoe emboldened by the actual malice standa@iCl Premier
Tech., Inc. v. Rhode§36 F.3d 280, 295 (4th Cir. 2008ge also McDowell v. Paiewonski69
F.2d 942, 94951 (3d Cir. 1985) (similarly concluding that architect who undertookrgovent
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Finally, there is no dispute th#te Chapter’s statementwhich discuss the
government’s use dflontgomery’s technology and allegations concerning whether it werked
aregermane to the public controversylontgomery does not argue otherwiggecordingly, the
Court concludes that Montgomery is a limipdrpose public figure and proceeds to consider
whether he can meet the actual malice standard.

b. Actual Malice

As theSupremeCourt has explained, an “erroneous statement is inevitalbleardébate,
and . . . it mst be protected if the freedoms of expression are to have the ‘breathingtsptice’
they ‘need . . . to survive.”N.Y. Times Co. v. SullivaB76 U.S. 254, 274172 (1964) quoting
NAACP v. Button371 U.S. 415, 433 (1963). Thus, the Court has helddbkat constitutional
matter, a public official opublic figure cannot prevail on a defamation claim unless he proves
the defendants’ false and defamatory statement “was made with ‘atlieeé—that is, with
knowledge that it was false or with reckless disregard of whether italg&sdr not.”Id. at279—
80; see also Gertz418 U.S. at 33436. The actual malice standard is not to be confused with the
common law concept of “malice,” and the stand#@adot satisfied merely through a showing of
ill wil | or ‘malice’ in the ordinary sense of the ternHarte-Hanks Commins, Inc. v.

Connaughton491 U.S. 657, 666 (1989).he proper injury focuses on what the defendant knew

constuction project in the face of public controversy over the project was adipitrpose

public official). Yet, in that cas€ACI (the contractor) did not contest its status as a public
figure, so the Court’s analysis is both brief and conclus@ACI Remier Tech.536 F.3d at

295 In addition, Defendants’ argument in this case suffers from thie basic obstacle that the
record does not reveahenMontgomery entered into later contracts with the government. That
gap in the record is concededly doghe vagueness of Montgomery’s own claims about those
later contracts. But it nevertheless leaves the Court unablestongtet whether those

subsequent contracts patted the publicriticism of his work—which began around 2008

when FBI records andedia reportdirst linked Montgomery to thaoise filtering technology

that led tathe December 2008rounding of flights
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about the veracity of the statements, not the defendant’'s motivand “only thse statements
made with [a] high degree of awareness of their probable falsity . . berdng subject of either
civil or criminal sanctions.”Garrison 379 U.S. at 74. And that showing must be made by clear
and convincing evidenceee, e.gBose Corp. v. Consumers Union of U.S.,,1466 U.S. 485,

511 n.30 (1984), which serves an“extremely powerful antidote to the inducement to media
seltcensorship of the commdaw rule of strict liability for libel and slandérGertz 418 U.S.

at 342.

Moreover, the inquiry also focuses on the subjective beligfsegparticular defendant at
issue. The grdstick isnotwhether‘a reasonably prudent man would have published, or would
have investigated before publishingSt. Amant v. Thompsp890 U.S.727, 731 (1968).

Rather, a court musiskwhethera particular defendaritn fact entertainederious doubts as to
the truth of his [or her] publication.td. (emphasis addedRelying on the examples the Court
set forth inSt. Amantthe D.C.Circuit hasfurther fleshedut this inquiry, holding thab

establish actdanalicea plaintiff “must show, by clear and convincing evidence, that when the
defendants published the alleged defam@tithey were subjectively aware that it was highly
probable thathe story was ‘(1) fabricated; (2) so inherently improbabledhbta reckless
person would have put [it] in circulation; or (3) based wholly on anniffreet anonymous
telephone call or some other source that appellees had obvious reasauis.tbo dohrenzv.
Donnelly 350 F.3d1272, 1283D.C. Cir. 2003)alterations in originalfquotingTavoulareas

817 F.2dat 790 (enbanc));see also St. Amar290 U.S. at 732.

The clear and convincing evidence stand#rgroofis alsoof critical importanceeven
at summary judgment. Tl®urt “must bear in mind the actual quantum and quality of proof

necessary to support liability unddew York Time% Anderson477 U.S. at 254. A plaintiff
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cannot survive summary judgmenénd there is no genuine issue of materiaHddtthe
evidence presented in the opposing affidavits,” or otherwise prieséte record “is of
insufficient caliber or quantity to allow a rational finder of facfital actual malice by clear and
convincing evidence.ld. To be sure, and as the D.C. Circuit has acknowledged, there is some
“facial appeal’ to the argument that issues of actual malice shoultbraecided at summary
judgment. Lohrenz 350 F.3d at 1283. Ceidering whether a speaker knewhad serious
reason to believe that his speech was false necessarily entailg thimispeaker*subjective
state of mind,” and tusto a large degree on questionSopédibility and nuance.”ld. Yet, the
“heavy bure@n” of clear and convincing evidence that the Supreme Court has estabiskes
that facial appeal misplacedd.; see also Anderspd77 U.S. at 256A plaintiff cannot defeat a
properly supported motion for summary judgment “by merely asgetttatthe jury might . . .
disbelieve the defendant’s denial . . . of legal malic&niterson477 U.S. at 26. Instead, the
plaintiff must present “affirmative evidence” beyond “mere allegatr denials of his pleading”
that demonstrate a genuine issue of fact for tidla 256-5/.

Here,Defendants point to an abundance of evidence in the record tendhmgatahat
Risen and Houghton Mifflimeither knewnor had reason tsuspecthat the Chapter’s assertions
regarding Montgomery, his technology, and the surrounding ciremees were falseOf most
relevance is the plethora of other news articles, court docgnagk government records, pre
dating the Chapter, which align wiimd corroborate the Chapter’s general thrust: that

Montgomery’s technology did not work as bill&d For example, the Chapter expressly

32 Montgomery claims-without any legal citatioa-that these documents are hearsay
and would be inadmissible at trigheePl.’s Opp’nat 19. But to the extent they would be
introduced for the nehearsay purpose of showing the Defendasubjectiveknowledge or
state of mind regarding the veracity of the Chapter, they would bessilla. Courts regularly
rely onmedia publications,@vernment reports, arrest recordsd other purportedly hearsay
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acknowledgeddram Rostors prior article inPlayboymagazineandRisen ancEric Lichtblaus
prior article in theNew Yok Times which both made substantially similar claims regarding
Montgomery’s technologySeeChapter at 53see alsdrisen Declf{5, 15;id. Exs. 3, 11
Risen also asserts in a declaration that he also relied on a numbetiohatidrticles, which he
attaches SeeRisen Decl{8-18;id. Exs. 414 Each of those articles make similar factual
claims and one have been retracted or otherwise cafiemdispute IndeedRisen asserts that
“[tlo my knowledge, up to the time of publication and today, north@firticles | reviewed and
relied [upon] were subject to a correction, retraction, or lawétiiRisen Declq 7. Generally, a
defendant’s'good faith reliance on previously published reports in reputable sources .
precludes a finding of actual malice as a matter of lawierty Lobby, Inc.838 F.2cat 1297.
Risen also testified that he relied on statements madiegpp, Flynn, Montgomeis
former employees, and others in FBI interview reports and court dotsingee, e.gRisen
Decl. 120-25 Risen Dep. at 109:1910:5. For example, the FBI's report of its interview with
Warren Trepp states that Trepp had “receletdyned that Momgfomerywould require eTreppid

employees to falsify the results of live demonstrations fef[stic] customers.” Risen Decl. Ex.

documents when considering defendants’ motions for summagynjeiat in defamation cases.
See, e.gLiberty Lobby 838 F.2d at 128-97 (substantively discussing several articlpsn
which the defendantadrelied).

33 Montgomery claims in his statement of material facts that hedtmed email
communications between Montgomery and Eric Lichtblau and Jamesd&isamly as 2011
demanding retractior~presumably referring to tidew York Timearticles Risen and
Lichtblau authoredPl.’s SCMF § 65. But, as Defendants point out, he offers no documentary
support for that assertion. Montgomery cites to ExhibiTBatexhibit shows email traffic from
2012 (not 2011)sent only to Risen (and not both Risen and LichtbEagcontairs no
discussion of a retractiorbeePl.’s SOMF Ex. 9,ECF No. 2349. He also cites to his
depositionduring whichhe claimed he sentreails to Risen and an editor seeking a retraction
SeeMontgomery Depat 191:4197:19, ECF No. 23%. No such anails have been identified
to the Court.
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15 at 53* An Air Force Office of Special Investigation Inquiry report also repoes the
statement of Jesse Anderson, an leyge of eTreppid, who recalleddemonstration of
Montgomery’s object recognition software during which Andersas asked to strike a
particular computer key whenever a bazooka appeared on the video d$dre¢®l. Another
former employee of eTreppid, James Bauder, made similar allegattbra.62. These
contentiondargelycorroboratedhe factual assertions made in media repdvtsreover, thg
were further substantiated tye statements of otherisgeswho were not tied so closely to
Montgomery For exampleAram Roston reported Defense News 2012that a former CIA
Counterterrorism Center official, Jose Rodriguez, claimed the CasCskeptical of the
technology, and that other officials alsame to view the technology as “bogu&éeRisen
Decl. Ex. B. Risen asserts that he relied on that artiSleeRisen Decly 17. In addition, the
Chapter explicitly quotes the written testimony of John Brepdanng the course of his
confirmationhearings to becontelA Director, thatthe program “was determined not to be a
source of accurate informationSeeChapter aé7; Risen Decl. Ex. 1at 10

And Risen alscstateghat hefurthercorroborated these individuals’ claims wither
governmenbfficials.®>> SeeRisen Decl{{26—35. For example, he asserts that CIA Paris

Station Chief William D. Murray told him about the French lidehce Agency’s efforts to

34 Because Exhibit 15 includes a number of separate reports and intertésama
single document, the Court will cite to the EGénerated page numbers for ease of reference.

3% In passing, Montgomery asserts that Risemndiddentify some sources at his
depositiorthat were later discussed in his declarati@ithoughMontgomerydoes not identify
the names of any particular individualSeePl.’s Opp’n at 16. The Court’s comparison of
Risen’s deposition and his declaration reveal that, at the veryRassh disclosed at his
deposition the names of CIA Paris Station Chief William D. Murfaymer White House
counterterrorism official FranceoWwnsend, CIA Office of Public Affairs officials George Little
and Jennifer Youngblood, and former adviser to Vice President Cheme&yn®ea RavichSee,
e.g, Risen Dep. at 93:121, 282:23283:18, 292:2622, 313:12315:18, 380:2385:1. These
sources, otheir own, are sufficient to show an absence of actual malice.
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reverseengineer Montgomery’s software and that the agency’s conclusioréiatdadcasts
contained insufficient pixels to contain hidden messabggs]27. Defendants produced the
copy of an email Risen received from CIA spokeswoman Jennifer Yowuwhlwho stated that
“the CIA looked at what Montgomery claimed he could do but determivagchts threat
detection tools weren'’t exactly as billedd. § 29;id. Ex. 21.

Finally, Risen interviewed Montgomery and published his denials andteclains
throughout the Chaptetndeed, the Chapter emphasizes those comments by placing them in the
opening pages and the closing paragraph, among other pseese.qg.Chapter at 3334, 37,

41, 53. As theD.C. Circuit has explained, “reportingerspecties atodds with the publishes
own, ‘tend[] to rebut a claim of malice, not to establish.6néohrenz 350 F.3d at 1286
(quotingMcFarlane v. Esquire Magazin@4 F.3d 1296, 1304 (D.C. Cir. 1996Disclosing this
contrary narrative in fact shows tHaefendants ferreted out conflicting information and
examined it, which suggests turn,that by the timeheypublished the Chapter théagld no
serious doubts about its truth.

Collectively, this evidence paints a bleak picture for Montgomeigisns and
Montgomery’s effort to rebut and demonstrate a triable issue of actual malice is unavéling.

As an initial matter, Montgomery'’s inabilitp show falsity is a persistestumbling blockhat

36 This evidence also demonstmsirghy Montgomery cannot carry his burden to show
negligence even if he is properly considered a private figure. To deatensegligencea
plaintiff must slow “a failure to observe an ordinary degree of care in ascertaining thetan
assertion before publishing it to others,” or, in other woragailure to make a reasonable
investigation as to truth.Kendrick v. Fox Televisigre59 A.2d 814, 822 ([@. 1995) (quoting
Mossv. Stockard580 A.2d 1011, 10226 (D.C. 1990)). Here, Risen interviewed Montgomery
and included his denials and counpeints in the Chapter (albeit with less emphasis than
Montgomerymayhave preferred). The evidence also indicatesRisgnattempted to
corroborate the assertions regarding Montgomery’s software acrosal sifferent sources.
For the same reasons that follow, Montgomery has not shown that aatdagarny could
conclude from this record that Risen failed to make a reasonableigavest as to the truth.
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runs throughout thisase Without evidence from which a reasonable fact firmerd conclude
that Montgomery’s softwareorked a jury would be unable to concluBésen’s statementbat
thetechnology wa$raudulentwere in fact false. And if the fact finder is unable to deiee
whether the statements were fais@ecomesall the moredifficult to showthat Risen had
reason to doubt the chorus of sources in government, in the medfgerandally connected to
Montgomerywho allconteneédthat Montgomery’s technology washer fabricated goroven
not to bea valid source of intelligenceCf. Hepps475 U.Sat 778(“A jury is obviously more
likely to accept a plaintifs contention that the defendant was at fault in publishing the
statements at issue if convinced that the relevant statements werg false.

But even assuming, merely for the sake of argument, that the Chegiteements turned
out to be false, Montgomery has mntified record evidencéhatwould “allow a rational
finder of fact to find actual malidey clear and convincing evidenceAnderson477 U.S. at
254. Although each of Montgomery’s assertiomdl be discussedh detail,the Courtpauses to
emphasize that theast majority of his arguments suffer frabasic infirmity A party
opposing theentry of summary judgment mystesent concrete “affirmative evidence” beyond
“mere allegation or denialghatdemonstratea genuine issue of fact for trialld. at 256-%.

For that reasononclusory statementsiaccompanied bgupporting facts in the record are
insufficient to defeat a motion for summary judgmefee, e.gGreene 164 F.3d a675

Despite this requirementjuch of Montgomery’s opposition relies on unsupported assertions
and speculation. And in the famstances he does citg point to actual record evidence, that
evidenceadoes not suffice to show actual malice by clear and convincing evidence

First, Montgomenyargues that his own statements to Risen suggesting his story was

inaccurate gavRisenreason tkknow that the Chapter’s claims were fal&eePl.’s Opph at
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27. The emails Montgomerypoints to largely consist of Montgomery questioning why Risen
has not focused his attention on Trepp, Flynn, or government cffiaiadl Risen seeking certain
documents to corroborate some of Montgomery’s own claimSeePl.’s Opp’'n Exs. 13, 14.
Although Montgomery never makes a fthroated denial of the Chapter’s claims, in thmaals
he does make some passing assertimaishis technologiis still being ugd against Americans
for covert purposesPl.’s Opp’'n Ex. 14and thatMontgomery could not “ever s¢Risen]
correcting the recortlPl.’s Opp’n Ex. 13.Yet, anydenial, standing alonés insufficient to
demonstrate actual malice and survive summary judgmentubfiffiers need not accept
denials, however vehemehbecause “such denials are so commonplace in the world of
polemical charge and countercharge that, in themselves, they akedlshe conscientious
repoter to the likelihood of errar. Lohrenz 350 F.3d at 1285 (quotirdarte-Hanks Commias,
491 U.S. at 691 n.37). Denials often do not provide “obvious reasons” to doubtaléy of a
publication,id. at 1285 and “[a]denial only serves to buttress a case for actual malice when
there is something in the content of the deniaugpporting evidence produced in conjunction
with the denial thatarries a doubinducing quality;, 3 Smollg suprg § 23:3 at 231.
Montgomeryfails to point to anything specific and concrete that accompémsedenial, beyond
his vague claim that Defendaniaténtionally omitted most of Mr. Montgomery'’s side of the
story and was relegated only to conclusory denials, undercuttimgifPacredibility.” Pl.’s

Opp’n at 29.He does not explain what points were omitted.

37 0On this latter point, the-mails contain some vague discussions regarding
Montgomery’s claims that John Brennan was or continues to be involvethestspecified
program related to Montgomery’s sofire. Montgomery claims that Risen “blackmailed” him
and ‘attempfed] to get Dennis Montgomery to provide classified information and docsment
including John Brennan’s emails.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 29. Simply put, #imai&conversation
neither supports Montgomery’s assertion of some nefarious intemdicates that Risen
threatened to publish his Chapter unless Montgomery divulged cldsaitiemation.
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Next, Montgomery claims that the Defendants knew all of the sources tirexy upon
had either an ongoing feud with Montgomery or a motivation to gsfiansibilityfrom ther
own actions to MontgomerySeePl.’s Opp’n at26. He points specifically to Trepp and Flynn,
with whom he claims he was locked in litigation over eTreppid’stasscluding his software,
and their statementbat they now believeilontgomey to be a fraud or a con man. He also
points to thegovernment officialfkisen quotes-named and unnameewvho Montgomery
argues wersimply “shifting the blamefor their own bad decisions and failures onto a private
individual as a scapegoatPl.’s Opp’n at28. It is true that, although a publisher’s failure to
investigate tloesnot itself establish bad faithonce ‘the publisher has obvious reasons to doubt
the accuracy of a story, the publisher must act reasonably in disphtisg doubts._ohrenz
350 F.3d at 1284 (citin§t. Amant390 U.S. at 733, 731 But the mere possibility that a source
may be biasd in some way or hold a subjective viewpoint doeswithout more create
obvious reasons to doubt a source’s accuoa®@stablish actual malicdd. (concluding that
evidence that the publishers “were on a mission to reinstate the bast aganen being
assigned to combat positions in the military does not sufficeow alstual malice,” and that
acting on the “basis of a biased source and incomplete information” dogsonotaictual
malice) Indeed, the D.C. Circuit has affirmed the entry of summary judgwmieere a speaker
had “reason to be wary” of a source but “also had some reason to believeytheasted upon
his own research and his conveimas with journalists and expertstresearch and conversation
that “gave him reason to believe that the allegations were not fabricatetrarlane v.
Sheridan Square Press, 1n81 F.3d 1501, 1513 (D.C. Cir. 1996)hafl is exactly the case here.
Risendoes not deny that he was aware of the litigation between Trepp, Montgamefylynn.

Indeed, he draws several of the quotes from documents filed in thoseacmsasknowledges in
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the Chapter that Montgomery “insists that the charges have been lbyaldtics with axes to
grind, including his former lawyer and former employees.” Cheagit83. As inMcFarlang
hereRisencorroboragd the Chapter’s basic clameross several different sourcaadercutting
Montgomery’s claim of biasMontgomery @es not identify anything other than the possibility
of bias thaimight haveotherwiseraisedserious doubts abothesesources’ claims.
Montgomery also asserts that Defendants had reason to know thaatite s clairs
were improbable-but he relies on nothing more than speculation and empty assertions
unsupported by record evidence. In some instances, he even seveargyarents the
Chapter’s contents. For example, he claims that Defendants “knewptivate citizens cannot
order transatlanticigolane flights barred from the United States or shot down,” and that
Montgomery “did not interpret the data he collected.” Pl.’s Opp26atThe Chapter, however,
cannot possibly support an implication that Montgomery, hiingedered or suggested @rihg
airplanes shot down; it merely states tRegsident Buslrdered the grounding of planes
“[blased on Montgomery’s information,” and that the informatiprotmpted President Bush” to
act. Chapter at 42, 45. And the Chapter explicitly states that “Mmetigolet the CIA draw its
own conclusions based on the information he gave them,” and noted thifovbery fnsists

that he did not offer the CIA his own conclusions about what the d=attii® Id. at 41.

38 Other speculative assertions made without any record evidence (or an &ttempt
connect those assertions to Defendasugjective knowledgehclude the following:
Montgomery’s claim that Defendants “knew that the French at thaftiraethey purportdg
reviewed Montgomery’s software] were opposed to President Busk'gih policy”; his claim
that “Defendants publish accusations that the U.S. Governmeptistiassified intelligence,
sourcelg] and method [sic] with a private French firm at a timewFRrance was hostile to
George W. Bush’s foreign policy and in bed with commercial istsria Iraq and throughout the
Middle East”; that thélew York Timeand other media sources refused to publish the Chapter’s
claims, that Defendants “ignored contradictory information thatreadily available”; and that
Defendants “went far beyond and exaggerated to the extreme anyiivgats said in prior
publications, public documents, or through any named sources.”Opp’s at 2628. As for
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Montgomery similarlypoints to the facthat the government neither prosecuted him nor
asked for its money backSeePl.’s Opp’n at 26 He claims that Defendants ignofd] warning
signs that the U.S. Government kephineng Dennis Montgomery and his employers through
various contracts and various businesses as evidence that his softwaehaotbgy was
valuable and worked.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 280 the contrary-Defendants explicitly acknowledge
this fact, and the Chapter states that “[e]ven more stunningtladteebacle over the bogus
Christmas 2003 terrorist threats, Montgomery kept getting cladsgiovernment contracts
awarded through several different corporate entiti€hapter at 47. The Chapter drew a
different inference from this facit asserted thd{t]he secrecy that smounded [Montgomery’s]
work once again worked in his favaand thathewas able to secure contracts because “CIA
officials were reluctant to tell their Pentagon counterparts mualt alheir experiences with
Montgomery” Id. An “adoption of one of a nuber of possible rational interpretations” is “not
enough to create a jury issue of ‘malice’ unew York Time$%particularly absent warning
signs which would have led Risen to doubt his accotimhe, Inc. v. Papet01 U.S. 279, 290
(1971);see Silvestr v.ABC, Inc, 650 F. Supp. 766, 779 (S.D. Fla. 1986) (“Members of the
news media may spin their own theories so long as those piopssite not so unreasonable

under the circumstances as to demonstrate malicarig). again, the falsitissuebecomes

Montgomery’s taim that the French did not have access to themtsyption technology at
issue, that statement is disclosed in the Chaj@eeChapter at 46 (explaining that the French
company was hired to “reversmgineer Montgomery's purported technology”). And
Montgomery does not explain why that fact should have given Defendardas teadoubt the
ability of the French to verifywithout Montgomery’s technologyhe possibility that secret
messages were being transmitted through Al Jazeera broadcasts.
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hurdle forMontgomerybecause hprovides nothingther than hiswn sayso to show that the
government is, in fact, still using his softwai®.

Next, Montgmery makes the unsupportedim that Risen’s original publisher, Simon
& Schuster, refused to publish his book because he could not supgmok'® claims.See,
e.g, Pl’s Opp’n at 3, 5, 1618. This assertion isot supported by the recor@Vhen one
actually looks at the-mail correspondenddontgomery cites, it becoraeclear thathe Simon
& Schustereditor with whom Risen worked merely raised concerns that several ofapiesich
might not work in concert to advance a central thesis, and suggested thabhaldchapters
might be written to shift the book’s focus.s £0 the specific Chapter discussing Montgomery,
however, the editor never raised a single substantive objection. Insteddytdighted it as
among the strongest in the book and awsuggestedhat it remain.SeePl.’s Mot. for Leave to

File Under ®al, Ex. A., ECF No.Z2-4%

39 Montgomeryalso latches on to Risen’s stateméuting a podcast interviethat it was
“difficult to tell what was really going on” or that one could “nevelwdiat was the truth and
what was not the truth.” Am. Compl. 1 14@ePl.’s Opp’n at 27 As Riserexplained in his
deposition, however, that statement was taken out of context andeid\an entirely different
chapter oPay any Pricea Chapter on “Rosetta” (a subject that is not further desanlibe
record. SeeRisen Dep366:15-366:11 (“I krow that youve mischaracterized and taken that
out of context because | looked at the actual interview and it was reladetifferent chapter in
my book, not the chapter involving Dennis Montgomery. . . . It had mgptioi do with Dennis
Montgomery.”). The Amended Complaint does not provide the full context or transdripe
interview, but its use of brackets to explain why both the precedinépfoding portions of the
interview were not relevant, and the fact that the quoted portion dbodsass Montgomery at
all, cast serious doubt on Montgomery’s assertion that Risen watsiaglime did not know
whether Chapter Two was accurageeAm. Compl. I 149.Indeed, the Amended Complaint
introducesthe assertion by stating that Risen “winds uwp@mapter on ‘Rosetta’ [sic] by saying
...." 1d. And, in any event, the evidence discussed above demonstrates #adf atdofar as
the Chapter concerning Montgomery is concerned, there is nothing iedord seriously
indicating Risen had doubtibout the truth of that Chapter’s assertions or the interpretdtio
events that he finally settled on.

49 The Court’s vague description of these documeatstentsis intentional. The
documents were obtained from thpdrties Simon & Schuster, PridaiPainton (a Simon &
Schuster editor), and Tina Bennett (Risen’s literary agent) pursuargubpoena. They were
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Montgomery also makesvo other arguments that deserve only passing mention in light
of his failure to show that Defendants held any subjective daldait the Chapter’s accuracy.
First, he emphasizes thdbughton Mifflin did not retract the Chapter after Montgomery and his
counsel repeatedly asked them &ee e.g, Pl.’s Opp’n at 13, 18 This fact cannot help him
show malice herggiven all of the evidence indicating that Defendants actually swgécti
believed the accuracy of the Chapter’s asserti@eeN.Y. Times376 U.S. at 28-87
(“[F] ailure to retract upon respondasniemand . . is likewise not adequate evidence of malice
for constitutional purpos€y; see also Klayman v. City Pagéé$o. 5:13cv-143 2015WL
1546173, at *15 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 3, 2015) (“[T]he fact that Plaintiff alerteteBeéants after
publication that he believed the statements were false and that he wantednsbafe&rrection
or retraction does not help Plaintiff to establish actualomd). Secondjo establisiHoughton
Mifflin’'s own malice hegoints to the fact thahe publishing companieid not independently

fact check Risen’s work. Given the plethora of other accounts of the samensteputable

marked confidential pursuant to Magistrate Judge Goodman’s Protectige SeeProtective
Order, ECF No. 8 Montgomery filed a motioto remove these doc@mts from the Protective
Order relyingon little more than a statemdn Magistrate Judge Goodman, taken out of
context, to support his claim that the documents should not rem#idexatial. SeePl.’s Mot.

for Leave to File Unde®eal, ECF No. 236. Yet, two days before filing tmationhe publicly
filed his opposition to Defendants’ motion for summary judgnaeat quoted verbatim from the
confidential documents. Defendants claim that the documentdrceatsitive editorial
information concerning Simon & Schuster’s review of Risen’s bd&deDefs.” Resp. Opp’n to
Pl.’s Mot. to Remove Docs. from Protective Order at 4, ECF No. Z88.Court agrees and will
grant Defendants’ motion to retain the documents under seal, demgdiery’s motion insofar
as it requests to remove the documents from the protective orderaahdgfendants’ motion
to seal their unredacted reply to plaintiff's statement of additima#erial disputed facts, which
discloses this informationSeeDefs.” Mot. to Seal, ECF No. 253; Defs.” Renewed Mot. to Seal,
ECF No. 270. To remedy the dissemination of the confident@indtion, the Court will order
Plaintiffs to substitute a redacted version of his brief in oppostnd statement of disputed
facts. Plaintiff shall also substitute redacted versions of thgsesd®ns in which Defendants
claim confidential information was disclosed, redacting ¢hpsrtions that Defendants identify
as confidential.SeeDefs.’ Resp. Opp’n to Pl.’s Mot. at 3 n.ECF No. 239. The docket does
not reveal any motion to remove that material from the Protective Order.
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sources, and Risen’s own regtion as a journalist, the publisher’s failure to conduct its fast
check cannot establish malice on this recd&de, e.gChaiken v. VV Pdlg Corp, 119 F.3d
1018, 1032 (2d Cir. 1997) (explaining that “@]blisher will not be liable for an acte later
shown to be false if it relies upon the integrity of a reputablecawnd has no serious reason to
guestion the accuracy of the information provided by that author,” ashddimo malice where
author “was an ‘established’ writer with a sourg@utation” and “[n]either the contents of the
article nor any external circumstances suggested that the article edraanfalsity”).

At bottom,the limited evidence Montgomery has supplied does not show by clear and
convincing evidence that Defendastshjectively knew the Chapter’s assertions were false or
acted with reckless disregard as to thasgertions’ truth or falsityThe evidenceand
speculation on whicMontgomeryrelies“is of insufficient caliber or quantity to allow a rational
finder offact to find actual malice by clear and convincing evidendaderson477 U.S. at

254, and Defendants’ motion to summary judgment must thereforauedt

41 The Court’s conclusion also makes it unnecessary to definitigetylve to what extent
the common law fair report privilege protects the statements matle Chapter. The common
law privilege, retained in contemporary defamation law, immunizes frability the fair and
accurate reporting concerning official government proceedings and actseasdaired
exception to the common law rule that the republisher of a defamatitm@med to have adopted
the underlying defamatory statement as its owh'fiite v. Fraternal Order of Polic&®09 F.2d
512, 527 (D.C. Cir. 1990)eeRestatement (Second) of Tat611(Am. Law Inst. 197). The
privilege is intended to “encourage[] the media to disseminate officiabieewarhether
verbatim or in fair summarieswithout fear of liability for any false, defamatory materiadtth
their might contain,'Dameron 779 F.2d at 739, ants applications a legaljuestion to be
decided by the court as a matter of |aee, e.g.Whitg 909 F.2d at 52728; Stewart v. Sun
Sentinel Cq.695 So2d 360, 362 (FlaDist. Ct. App.1997). To qualify for the privilege, the
material must have been contained in an offi@abrt, which is defined broadly to include
“reports of proceedings before any court, or agency of the countgports of any other
proceedings, judicial in character, which take place before admivisfraxecutive or
legislative bodies which are by law authorized to perform public dutiesas well as report of
any official proceeding or action taken by any officer or agency of govetriimé/hite 909
F.2d at 527 (quotin&hillips v. Evening Star Newspaper C424 A.2d 78, 88 (D.C. 1980pee
also Restatement (Second) of T&®11, cmt. d. It also must be “apparent either from specific
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5. The Remaining Tort Claims
Finally, it is hornbook law that “a plaintiff may not use rethtauses of action to avoid
the constitutional requisites of a defamation claimlbldea Il 22 F.3d at 31:20. Where a
plaintiff's “defamation clairfs] fail[], so dofhis] other tort claims based upon the same allegedly
defamatory speech.Farah v. EsquirdMagazine 736 F.3d 528, 540 (D.C. Cir. 2013ge also
Hustler Magazine v. Falwell85 U.S. 46, 56 (1988) (holding that a public official must show a
false publication made with actual malice in order to recover on iotehinfliction of

emotional distress claimlfarah, 736 F.3d at 540 (affirming dismissal of plaintiffs’ tortious

attribution or from the overall context that the article is quptparaphrasing, or otherwise
drawing upon official documents or proceedingddmeron 779 F.2d at 739, and the author’s
summarization of the official reports must be reasonably accurate grebdéaWhite 909 F.2d at
527;Woodard v. Sunbeam Television Cofil6 So. 2d 501, 502 @&IDist. Ct. App.1993). If
the author’s work is a fair aratcurate representation of an official report, the work is
privileged, regardless of the veracity of the official report andriefhe official documents
contain erroneous informationWWoodard 616 So. 2d at 502ge also DamerqQry79 F.2l at
739.

The Court does note that, in several instandesChapter describes allegations that were
contained in FBI interview reports, Congressional testimang,court documents. Whéen
does soRisenattributes the statements to those sources. In thosedestdhe statements
would be shielded by the fair report privilegéee, e.gAm. Compl.f1121, 123. At the same
time, however, the Chapter as a whole is not a prototypical example ok @rearised entirely
on summarizing or discussing an officigbogt; in many respects, extended passages of the
Chapter discuss the surrounding events without explicitly refergke contents affficial
governmental reports. In those cases, the Chapter leaves the readéréwitpression that the
conclusion ighat of the [Chapter’s] author based on his own reseandtich may or may not
have included government report€ameron 779 F.2d at 740 (finding the privilege
inapplicable where neither the alleged defamatory statement nor tharguetion of the dicle
in which it was contained mentioned the official report, and whertnifigin the piece indicates
that the statement is intended as a summary” of the official repeetalsad. (concluding that
“nothing in the article gives the reader any reason to believe that thedilegfamatory
statement is intended as a summary{pfraport]”’). To be sure, the Chaptecsntentmay be
similar to the allegations made in the officiaports—and for that reason, the reports strongly
support the Court’s finding that Montgomery is unable to shouahatalice here. But the mere
existence of the reports, themselves, do not immunize Defendamtsidbility under the fair
reporting priviege in those passages where the reports are neither explicitly referenced nor
discussed.
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interference claim)ynelko Corp. v. Roone®12 F.2d 10491058(9th Cir. 1990) concluding

that plaintiff could not succeed @tortious interference claim where summary judgment was
properly granted on defamation claim$jontgomery merely asserts ttatmmary judgment
must be denied because his defamation claims survive summary juddgeehRt.’s Opp’n at

35. Having concluded otherwisegtlBourt will also grant summary judgment to defendants on
Montgomery’s intentional infliction of emotional diess, tortiousnterference with prospective

advantageand common lavassaulclaims.

IV. CONCLUSION

For theforegoingreasonsPefendants’ motion for summary judgment (ECF No. 201) is
GRANTED ; Defendants’ motion to dismiss (ECF No. 52DENIED AS MOOT ; Plantiff's
objections to the magistrate judge’s discovery motions (EQ$: W25, 143, 164) are
OVERRULED ; Defendants’ motion for sanctions (ECF No. 16@ENIED ; Plaintiff's
motion for an extension of time to complete discovery and to resetsitevdry deadline (ECF
No. 181) isDENIED; Defendants’ motions to seal questions for the sanctions pg&GF Nos.
210, 269) ar®ENIED; Plaintiffs motion for an extension of time to file his oppasitio
Defendants’ motion of summary judgment (ECF No. 22GRANTED nunc pro tung
Plaintiff’'s motion to seal and to remove documents from the Prage©trder (ECF No. 236) is
GRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART ; Defendants’ crosmotion to maintain
documents under seal (ECF No. 2395RANTED ; Defendants’ motion tseal and renewed
motion to seal (ECF Nos. 253, 270) &RANTED; Plaintiff's consent motion for a status

conference (ECF No. 256) BENIED AS MOQOT ; and Plaintiff's motion for oral argument
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(ECF No. 264) iDENIED AS MOOT . An order consistent with thiemorandum Opinion is

separatly and contemporaneously issued.

Dated: July 15, 2016 RUDOLPH CONTRERAS
United States District Judge
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